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Directors’ Profile

Mr. Imran Azim
Chairman

Mr. Imran Azim brings 
more than a four-decade 
experience with him to 
the board of Treet. His 
experience includes work 
in one of the largest 
financial institutions and 
asset management and 
manufacturing companies. 

He is presently on Board 
of following Companies:

•	 Habib Asset Management 
Limited

•	 Fecto Sugar Mills Limited

•	 Treet Holdings Limited

•	 Treet Corporation Limited

•	 Global Arts Limited

Mr. Syed Shahid Ali
Chief Executive Officer

Holding a Master’s degree 
in economics, a graduate 
diploma in development 
economics from Oxford 
University and a graduate 
diploma in management 
sciences from the 
University of Manchester, 
Syed Shahid Ali became 
Chief Executive Officer 
for the Treet Group in 
1995. Apart from holding 
directorships in various 
companies, he is also 
actively involved in social 
and cultural activities and 
holds senior positions on 
several hospitals.

His portfolio includes:

•	 Packages Limited

•	 IGI Insurance Limited

•	 Treet Power Limited

•	 Treet Corporation Limited

•	 Global Arts Limited

•	 Loads Limited

•	 Multiple Autoparts 
Industries (Pvt.)  Limited

•	 Specialized Autoparts 
Industries (Pvt.) Limited

•	 Treet Holdings Limited

•	 Gulab Devi Chest Hospital

•	 High-Tech Autoparts 
(Pvt.) Limited

Mr. Syed Sheharyar Ali
Non-Executive Director

After returning from Saint 
Louis University, USA in 
2001, Syed Sheharyar 
Ali became one of the 
youngest directors 
of Treet Corporation 
Limited. Currently 
at the age of 39, he 
manages a diversified 
portfolio consisting 
of manufacturing, 
healthcare, information 
technology, automobiles, 
sports and music.

His portfolio includes:

•	 Treet Power Limited

•	 Treet Corporation Limited

•	 Global Arts Limited

•	 Loads Limited

•	 Multiple Autoparts 
Industries (Pvt.) Limited

•	 Specialized Autoparts 
Industries (Pvt.) Limited

•	 Specialized Motorcycle 
(Pvt.) 	 Limited

•	 Cutting Edge (Pvt.) Limited

•	 Online Hotel Agents (Pvt.) 
Limited

•	 Frag Games (Pvt.) Limited

•	 Punjab Netball Federation

•	 All Pakistan Music 
Conference

•	 Treet Holdings Limited

•	 Gulab Devi Chest Hospital, 
Kasur

•	 Roboart (Pvt.) Limited

•	 Spell Digital Movies (Pvt.) 
Limited

•	 Elite Brands Limited

•	 Hi-Tech Autoparts (Pvt.) 
Limited

Mr. M. Shafique Anjum
Non-Executive Director

Mr. Anjum has been 
with the Treet Group 
for over 35 years. With a 
Mechanical Engineering 
degree, he has vast 
experience in the razor 
blades and allied product 
manufacturing field.

His portfolio includes:

•	 Treet Power Limited

•	 Global Assets (Pvt) 
Limited

•	 Treet Corporation Limited

•	 Treet HR Management 
(Pvt Limited

•	 Treet Holdings Limited 
and 

•	 Global Arts Limited
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Directors’ Profile

Ms. Sidra Fatima Sheikh
(Independent Director)

After completing her 
BSC Economics from 
The London School of 
Economics and Political 
Science, CPE/PGDL and 
LPC from BPP Law School, 
London, Sidra Fatima 
Sheikh trained with The 
Oberman Partnership 
Solicitors (now Kerman 
& Co), London and was 
enrolled as a Solicitor 
of the Supreme Court 
of England & Wales in 
2001. She is a partner at 
The Sheikh Partnership 
law firm since 2004 and 
serves on the managing 
committee of Gulab 
Devi Hospital and Al-
Aleem Medical College. 
She has recently been 
enrolled as an advocate 
of the Supreme Court of 
Pakistan.

Mr. Munir K. Bana
Non-Executive Director

•	He is a graduate from 
Dow Medical College 
and trained in UK as a 
Surgeon. He obtained 
FRCS in 1983. He is also 
a fellow of Royal Society 
of Medicine. He has vast 
medical experience of 
more than two decades 
in UK, Middle East and 
Pakistan. Currently, he 
is Medical Director at 
the Liaquat National 
Hospital, Karachi, one of 
the largest hospitals in 
the private healthcare 
sector in Pakistan.

His portfolio includes:

•	 Standing Member of 
Pakistan Standard and 
Quality Authority for 
Healthcare Issues

•	 Member Corporate 
Syndicate for MBA in 
Healthcare Management 
at the Institute of 
Business Management, 
Karachi

•	 Member Advisory 
Board for Formulation 
of National Guidelines 
on the Prophylaxis and 
Management of Venous 
Thromboembolism (VTE)

•	 Treet Holdings Limited

•	 Renacon Pharma Limited

•	 Treet Corporation Limited

Mr. Munir K. Bana qualified 
as a Chartered Accountant 
in 1972 and is a fellow of 
the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of Pakistan. 
He has been on the Board 
of Loads Limited and its 
group companies since 
1996, initially serving as 
Director Finance and later 
elected as Chief Executive 
of the Group. Previously, 
he served on the Boards of 
multi-national companies, 
Parke-Davis & Boots, as 
Finance Director for 18 
years. Nominated by the 
Prime Minister as Honorary 
Chairman of Karachi Tools, 
Dies & Moulds Centre, a 
public private-partnership, 
he served the institution 
for over 10 years. He 
was elected Chairman 
of Pakistan Association 
of Automotive Parts & 
Accessories Manufacturers 
(“PAAPAM”) in 2012-13. He 
has been Board member 
of Treet Corporation since 
2008.

His portfolio includes:

•	 Multiple Autoparts 
Industries (Pvt.) Limited

•	 Specialized Autoparts 
Industries 	  (Pvt.) 
Limited

•	 Specialized Motorcycles 
(Pvt.) 	 Limited

•	 Loads Limited

•	 Treet Holdings Limited

•	 Treet Corporation Limited

•	 Global Arts Limited

Mr. Dr. Salman Faridi
Independent Director
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Mission, Vision Statements

MISSION STATEMENT

Always staying true to our commitment of continuously raising standards and delivering quality products 
through manufacturing excellence, thereby fulfilling every need of our customers/consumers spread across 
the globe. 

VISION STATEMENT

Our mission is to solidify our national leadership position in our core business and drive growth through offering 
a diversified product portfolio with the principles of ensuring value for money for our consumers, increased 
shareholder’s value for our investors and nurture mutually beneficial business relationships with strategic 
partners. 

PRINCIPLE

We will base our human resources systems on our proven principles reflective of our core values and our 
commitment to attract, reward, develop and motivate sophisticated people. They will reflect the global scope of 
our business while demonstrating responsibility and flexibility with respect to cultural diversity, and statutory 
and regional business realties.

EMPHASIS

Our emphasis on continuous improvement in all aspects of our business will enable us to reward our certificate 
holders and employees.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

We will continually strive to be environmentally responsible and support the communities where we operate 
and the industries in which we participate.

CORPORATE VALUES

•	 Total Customer Services
•	 Long-Term Business Focus
•	 Technology Oriented
•	 Quality & Reliability
•	 Staff Development & Teamwork
•	 Effective Resources & Cost Management
•	 Corporate Responsibility
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Chairman’s Review Report

Dear Certificate Holders,

 I am pleased to present the Modaraba’s annual report for the year ended June 30, 2022 and to comment on 
the Board’s effectiveness in guiding the Modaraba towards achievement of its strategic goals.

The Modaraba has a strong governance framework in place, which is instrumental in achieving long-term 
sustainability and growth. In this regard, the Board continues to play an effective role by steering the Modaraba 
in a direction that focuses on its core business and competencies and also diligently and periodically report to 
the Regulators, in a timely manner.

The current members of the Board are fully abreast  in the areas of business management, strategy, finance, 
corporate governance, legal and administration. Further, all members of the Board are cognizant of their fiduciary 
duty to the Modaraba and its Certificate Holders. As Chairperson of the Board, I ensure that all directors are 
encouraged to contribute and deliberate on strategic and governance-related topics, and that inputs from the 
independent directors, the director representing minority Certificate Holders, and the directors having relevant 
experience on such topics are consulted and given due consideration before taking any decision.

The Board has clearly defined the terms of reference of its committees, and the members are appointed after 
considering their requisite skills and experience. Further, the Board and its committees meet regularly during 
the year and exercise their governance roles after due deliberation on each matter placed before them.

We also constantly reviewed aspects of our financial reporting framework, in order to ensure that the Modaraba 
remained in line with both the latest regulatory requirements and best practices in the industry.

On behalf of the Board, I take this opportunity to thank all Modaraba employees and partners for their hard 
work throughout the year and our Certificate Holders and customers for their continued support and look 
forward to a successful 2021-2022.

Furthermore, I would like to thank Mr. Shafique Anjum (Non-Executive Director), who has retired as a valuable 
member of the Board of Directors of the Modaraba, for all his contributions and valuable input regarding Board 
Matters. In his stead, Mr. Haroon Latif has joined the Board, as an Independent Director and on behalf of the 
Board of Directors, I welcome him and wish him the best of luck for his new role.

September 27, 2022 
Lahore

Mr. Imran Azim
Chairman
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Directors’ Report

We are pleased to present the Directors’ Report together with the Financial Statements (audited) for the 
year ended June 30, 2022. These accounts have been audited by statutory auditors of the Modaraba and are 
accompanied by their audit report.

ECONOMIC UNCERTAINITY IMPACT

The business environment during FY 2022 was generally unfavorable due to political and economic challenges 
faced by Pakistan adding more fuel to the miseries of our economy which has adversely effected businesses 
across the industries. The staggering increase in the prices of raw material, currency depreciation in the past 
12 months, unprecedented increase in the policy rates, for the economy that is majorly “Import Dependent” 
for all basic to specialized raw material along with the uncertain political situation has made very hard for the 
businesses to survive.

Our business is no exception to these challenges, however, the dedication and hard work of our teams has 
somewhat restricted the above adverse economic impact. The operating and financial profile of the company 
has posted notable improvement across all key parameters including, sales liquidity, cost controlling and 
plant operations. Key reasons for the improved performance during FY 2022 are the growth in sales volume, 
improvement in plant efficiency, better cost management, price rationalization and reduction in financial cost. 
Despite the turbulent economic conditions, the company managed to perform much better than the previous 
year which helped to yield better results. Going forward, due to continuous improvements in our sale and 
marketing strategy, operational planning and cost management, we expect further improvement in sales 
volume, profitability and liquidity management.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Revenue for the year on consolidated basis increased to Rs. 7,678 million from Rs. 6,095 million, registering 
a significant growth of 25.98%. The company is currently operating in three segments; corrugated boxes, 
soaps and batteries. Sales volumes of corrugated and battery divisions increased by 29% and 37% respectively, 
whereas soap segment volume declined by 34.29%. The reason for shortfall in sales volume of Soap is on 
account of demand and supply in the market and the product mix.

The company was able to achieve gross profit for FY 2022 amounting to Rs. 284.72 million as against gross 
loss of Rs. 90.14 million of last corresponding period shows a significant improvement as a result of better & 
efficient cost management and price rationalization by the company. Sales volume of the battery segment 
reported an increase of 37% over previous years, which indicates that our product has made significant inroads 
in the market, which is primarily due to reliability and performance of our product that has enhanced the 
customer’s confidence.

The company was able to improve operating loss in FY 2022 to Rs. 279.67 million from Rs. 692.20 million in FY 
21 which is an above par achievement that was managed due to better cost management price rationalization 
and improved plant operations. Furthermore, in battery segment, reduction in advertisement and warranty 
claims proves that the company’s brand has now made its strong presence in the market and our products are 
becoming popular among
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customers as sales volumes are on increasing trend even with significant reduction in advertisement expenses 
and also the quality of our products has improved, which is evident from the decrease in warranty claims.

The financial cost has posted a significant decrease of 39.19%, from Rs. 789.99 million to Rs. 480.39 million 
due to conversion of loan from the parent company into equity. The continuous improvement in our battery 
segment is evident from the fact that its losses has reduced significantly as the company registered the net 
loss at Rs. 541.74 million in FY2022 as compared to net loss of Rs. 617.47 million of last corresponding period. 
Efforts are being made to bring the company in profit in the FY 2023.
 

FINANCIAL RESULTS :

Rs. in 000 2021-2022 2020-2021 % Change
Sales (net) 7,678,361 6,094,863 25.98%
Gross Profit/(Loss) 284,719 (90,144) 415.85%
Operating Profit/(loss) (279,673) (692,196) 59.60%
Net Profit/(Loss) (541,738) (617,470) 12.26%
Earnings/(Loss) per Certificate (0.63) (2.42) 73.97%
Transfer to Statutory Reserve Nil Nil
Book Value per Certificate 4.95 7.02 -30%

Auditors in the Audit report has drawn attention to Note 1.1 regarding the financial health of the Modaraba. 
The management has provided the mitigation plan to improve the operation of Modaraba.

Following major steps have been taken by the management to improve the operations of the business, and 
these measures are being implemented which will surely improve the business performance:

1.	 Battery Prices Rationalization:
Battery pricing was continually reviewed in line with competitors and market dynamics. In line with the pricing 
strategy since July 2021, eight (8) price increases have been made which were absorbed by the market.

2.	 Improvement in Plant Efficiency:
Continuous improvement in manufacturing strategy that has resulted in better plant utilization and resultantly 
delivered enhanced production. Our overall plant utilization has been 56.05% compared to 47.91% in the previous 
year.

3.	 Reduction in Administrative Costs:
Following up on resource localization approach, the battery plant operations are now being fully managed by 
trained local team. This has resulted in considerable overhead reduction. The local team is supported by only 
one Korean expat in the domain of R&D and Quality.
 
In case of corrugation segment, the prices of the products have much improved and rationalized over the period 
and Modaraba has successfully passed on the cost increase effect of the factor’s inputs to the customers. Apart 
from this, a better sales management by focusing on high margin customers, cost controlling and improving 
plant operational efficiency has resulted in improved margins.
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SEGMENT-WISE ANALYSIS

Rs. in 000 Corrugated Packaging Soap Battery
2021-2022 2020-2021 2021-2022 2020-2021 2021-2022 2020-2021

Gross Sales 2,699,311 2,062,293 590,169 897,646 6,153,927 5,098,162
Inter-Segment Sales 2,833 12,632
Less: Sales Tax &
Excise & Discounts (395,415) (287,278) 100,409 (152,284) (1,272,055) (1,536,308)

Total Sales 2,306,729 1,787,647 489,760 745,362 4,881,872 3,561,854
Gross Profit/(Loss) 103,439 18,806 26,109 25,834 155,170 (134,784)
Gross Profit /(Loss) % 4.48% 1.05% 5.33% 3.47% 3.18% -3.78%
Operating
Profit/(Loss) 35,886 (45,985) (18,956) 13,917 (296,605) (660,796)

Operating
Profit/(Loss) % 1.56% -2.57% -3.87% 1.87% -6.08% -18.53%

Directors’ Report

4.	 Organizational Restructuring:
Following organizational restructurings have been made during the year.
A new COO battery division has been appointed effective August 2022. He has led a remarkable transformation 
in both domains through improving Plant reliability, enhancing Production Output, implementing lean inventory 
model and enabling record volumes. He will report to the Executive Director.

A new Head Sales & Marketing – Battery Davison has been appointed effective August 2022. The incumbent 
has extensive experience in battery sales in local market nationwide. A new position has been created to look 
into the export opportunities of the battery. Head Battery Exports and OEM (Original Equipment Manufacturer) 
has been appointed. It is expected that through his experience and expertise we will be able to tap the Exports 
market also our OEM business channel will improve.

5.	 Financial Plan:
In addition to the remedial measures for the continued and sustainable operational performance of the 
Modaraba, the sponsoring directors of the parent company in order to provide financial support to the 
Modaraba, safeguarding its capital base and improving its financial ratios, had approved the decision for 
the conversion of loan provided by parent company into equity fund of the Modaraba which had also been 
approved by the regulators during the year. Following this approval, 183,590,293 Modaraba certificate of Rs. 10 
each have been issued to the parent company against its loan as shown under the current liabilities. Towards 
the endeavor of providing continued financial assistance, after reporting date the parent company and its 
sponsoring directors have also committed to lend Rs. 2 billion, to the Modaraba for the repayment of its debt 
from financial institutions. This loan will eventually be converted into Modaraba equity through “Issue other 
than right”. This financial plan has been approved by the board of directors of the company. In view of the 
above stated facts, the management believes that Modaraba will continue to operate as a viable venture in 
foreseeable future.

Spin off Battery segment to separate a Company (Treet Battery Limited) is in progress. Execution of demerger 
plan is underway. Currently, the demerger case in pending adjudication at Lahore High court. It is expected that 
the Honourable Lahore High Court will approve the scheme in FY 2022/23.

Accordingly, the going concern assumption used by the management in the preparation of these financial 
statements is appropriate. 
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CORRUGATED PACKAGING

The net revenue for the year 2021-22 is Rs. 2,307 million which has increased by 29% as compared to last 
financial year. The business has posted a gross profit of Rs. 103 million compared to a gross profit of Rs. 18.8 
million. The improvement is primarily due to better sales managements by focusing on high margin customers, 
cost controlling and improving plant operational efficiency.
 
Efforts are being made to broaden the customer base through market diversification. Moreover, prices are also 
being rationalized in tandem with the increased costs (raw material, salaries etc.) however, with time lagged 
impact.

SOAPS

The net revenue for the year 2021-22 is Rs.489.76 million which has decreased by 34.29% as compared to 
last financial year. Soaps sales volumes and margins have decreased due to increased cost of raw material 
(because of depreciation of the currency) and reduction in selling price. Prices are being rationalized to increase 
the margins in the coming months.

BATTERY PLANT

The battery segment has shown healthy increase in the volume which is approximately 37% higher compared 
to last year. The net revenue for the financial year 2021-22 is Rs. 4,882 million, which is 37% higher compared 
to last financial year. At this sale volume, the business has posted gross profit of Rs. 155.17 million which has 
improved by 215% compared to last financial year.

Furthermore, due to better management and control the administration & general and selling expenses has 
reduced by 14.25% compared to last year, which resultantly helped in reducing the operating loss to Rs. 296.6 
million, which is 55% lower compared to last year.

DIVIDEND

Cash dividend is Nil % (2021: Nil) due to loss in Modaraba.

APPROPRIATIONS
Rs. in ‘000

(Loss) for the Year (541,738)
Un-appropriated loss brought forward (7,810,787)
Transferred to Statutory Reserves (0.0%) for the year ended June 30, 2022 -
Incremental depreciation charged during the year 65,629
Transfer of revaluation surplus on disposal of asset 144,950
Un-appropriated loss carried forward (8,141,947)
Final Dividend for the year ended June 30, 2022 @ Rs. Nil Nil

CORPORATE AND FINANCIAL REPORTING FRAMEWORK

In compliance with the Code, the Board of Directors of Modaraba Company states that:
•	 The financial statements, prepared by the management of Modaraba, fairly present its state of affairs, the 

result of its operations, cash flows and changes in equity.
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•	 Proper books of accounts of the Modaraba have been maintained.
•	 Appropriate accounting policies are consistently applied by your Modaraba in the preparation of financial 

statements and accounting estimates are based on reasonable and prudent judgment.
•	 International Accounting Standards, as applicable in Pakistan, have been followed in the preparation of 

these financial statements and any departure therefrom, if any, has been adequately disclosed.
•	 The system of Internal Controls, being implemented in your Modaraba is sound and has been effectively 

persisted throughout the year.
•	 Keeping in view the financial position of your Modaraba, we do not have any significant doubt upon its 

continuance as a going concern.
•	 There has not been any material departure from the best practices of corporate governance, as detailed in 

the listing regulations, during the year under review. 

MEETINGS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

During the year, the Board of Directors of Modaraba has met 04 times and the attendance at each of these 
meetings is as follows:

Name Designation 26/
Oct/21

27/
Oct/21

24/
Feb/22

26/
Apr/22

2021-
2022

Imran Azim Chairman/Non-Executive 
Director P P P P 4/4

Munir Karim Bana Non-Executive Director P P P P 4/4
Dr. Salman Faridi Independent Director P P P P 4/4
Sidra Fatima Sheikh Independent Director P P P P 4/4
Syed Shahid Ali Chief Executive Officer A P A A 1/4
Syed Sheharyar Ali Executive Director P P P P 4/4
Muhammad Shafique Anjum Non-Executive Director P P A P 3/4

AUDIT COMMITTEE

During the year, the Audit Committee of the Board have met 04 times and the attendance at each of these 
meetings is as follows.

Name Designation 26/
Oct/21

27/
Oct/21

24/
Feb/22

26/
Apr/22

2021-
2022

Dr. Salman Faridi Chairman/Independent Director P P P P 4/4
Munir Karim Bana Non-Executive Director P P P P 4/4
Imran Azim Non-Executive Director P P P P 4/4

Directors’ Report

P Present
A Absent

P Present
A Absent
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SHARI’AH ADVISOR:

Mufti Muhammad Javed Hassan is the Shari’ah advisor to the Modaraba. Annual Shari’ah Advisor’s Report is 
attached with this report.

PATTERN OF CERTIFICATE-HOLDING:

The pattern of certificate-holding of your Modaraba as on June 30, 2022 is annexed with this report. This 
statement is in accordance with the amendments made through the Code.

HR & ADMINISTRATION:

Complete HR Function is outsourced to associated company Treet HR Management (Private) Limited who 
is labor hire company specialized in providing workforce to host companies under service agreement and is 
taking all responsibilities of the workforce.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT:

The Board would like to take this opportunity to express gratitude and thanks to our valuable customers 
for their patronage and support, the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan, the Pakistan Stock 
Exchange Limited and Modaraba Association of Pakistan for their continuous support and guidance.

Special thanks to our certificate holders for the trust and confidence reposed in us.

For and on behalf of the Board

Syed Shahid Ali                                             	               			   Dated:  September 27, 2022                            
Chief Executive Officer                                                			   Lahore
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EMPLOYEES

•	 No one should ask any employee to break the law, or go against Treet Group policies and values.
•	 We treat all employees equally and fairly.
•	 We do not tolerate any form of harassment.
•	 Information and necessary facilities are provided to perform jobs in a safe manner.
•	 Employees must not use, bring, or transfer illegal drugs or weapons on Treet Group property.
•	 Employees should report suspicious people and activities.

BUSINESS PARTNERS

•	 Avoid conflicts of interest and identify situations where they may occur.
•	 Do not accept or give gifts, favors, or entertainment if it will appear to obligate the person who receives it.
•	 Use and supply only safe, reliable products and services.
•	 Respect our competitors and do not use unfair business practices to hurt our competition.
•	 Do not have formal or informal discussions with our competitors on prices, markets or products, or 

production or inventory levels.
•	 Manufacture and produce products according to contract specifications.
•	 Market our products and services in an honest and fair manner.
•	 Do not compromise our values to make a profit.

BUSINESS RESOURCES

•	 Do not use inside information about the Treet Group for personal profit. Do not give such information to 
others.

•	 Do not use Treet Group resources for personal gain or any non-business purpose.
•	 Protect confidential and proprietary information.
•	 Do not use Treet Group resources to send, receive, access or save electronic information that is sexually    

explicit, promotes hate, violence, gambling, illegal drugs, or the illegal purchase or use of weapons.
•	 Do not make false or misleading entries into the companies’ books or records (within a Treet Group).

COMMUNITIES

•	 Follow all laws, regulations and Treet Group policies that apply to your work.
•	 Do not entice or give money or anything of value to government officials to influence their decisions.
•	 We measure and assess our performance, and are open and clear in our environmental communications.
•	 When Treet Group’s standards are higher than what is required by local law, we meet the higher standards.

Statement of Ethics and Business Practices 
Guidlines to Business Conduct
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Corporate Social Responsibility

TREET GROUP believes that a responsible attitude toward society and the environment can make a business 
more competitive, more resilient to shocks, and more likely to attract and hold both consumers and the best 
employees.

TREET GROUP feels that social attitude is a significant part of its risk management and reputation strategy. 
In a world where brand value and reputation are increasingly seen as a Treet Group’s most valuable assets, 
responsible social attitude can build the loyalty and trust that ensure a bright sustainable future.

Fundamental to success for Treet Group (and to our vision and corporate values) are based on following 
premises:

CUSTOMERS
Our future existence relies on understanding and satisfying our customers’ present and future needs. Our goal 
is to be recognized by our customers as a high quality, innovative and cost effective supplier, and the most 
desirable to do business with. We recognize that, as a result, the next person in the process is our customer.

OUR PEOPLE
We value our family of employees as essential to the success of our Treet Group. We aim to develop a long 
term trusting relationship with each employee, encouraging their contributions and assisting in their personal 
development and education. In all dealings we will be fair and consistent.

PRODUCTS AND SERVICES
We are recognized at large by our end products and services. We will endeavor to produce technologically 
advanced products and services that offer superior quality and value. Continued innovation and improvement 
are critical to our survival and growth.

SUPPLIERS
We view suppliers of goods and services as an extension of our Treet Group, with whom we wish to develop 
long term trusting relationships. We expect our suppliers to embrace our quality improvement philosophy in 
their dealing with us.

CERTIFICATE HOLDERS
We aim to be a Group in whom our certificate holders have trust and pride. We will keep our certificate holders 
properly informed of our Treet Group’s performance and prospects. We recognize the need to provide our 
certificate holders with an excellent return on investment, consistent with long term growth.

PLANNING
All short term decisions will be consistent with long term objectives that balance the needs of our people, 
customers, suppliers and certificate holders. Each year these objectives will be widely communicated within our Treet 
Group.
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QUALITY IMPROVEMENT

We believe in step by step continual improvement of everything that we are engaged in, including our 
administration, marketing, sales, design, service, distribution and manufacturing. We will encourage 
crossfunctional communication and co-operation to aid this.

ENVIRONMENT

Reflecting our commitment to a cleaner world, we aim to develop products and manufacturing processes 
which are as friendly to the environment as practicable.

SOCIETY

We will conduct our business at all times in a fair, ethical, consistent and professional manner. We accept our 
responsibilities to be a responsible community neighbour, and will continue to support community affairs.

HEALTH, SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENT POLICY

It is Treet Group policy to;

•	 Minimize its environmental impact, as much as economically and practically possible
•	 Save raw material, water and energy and avoid wastage (and reprocess the waste to the maximum 

possible    extent)
•	 Ensure that all its present and future activities are conducted safely without endangering the health of its    

employees, its customers and the public
•	 Develop plans and procedures and provide resources to successfully implement the policy and for dealing 

effectively with any emergency
•	 Provide environmental, health and safety training to all employees and other relevant persons to enable 

them to carry out their duties safely without causing harm to themselves, others and to the environment
•	 Ensure that all its activities comply with national environmental, health and safety regulations

DONATIONS , CHARITIES , CONTRIBUTIONS AND OTHER PAYMENTS OF A SIMILAR NATURE

Companies within Treet Group are, subject to Board’s approval, encouraged to provide support to local
communities through donations, charities etc. to fulfill its duty towards social cause. But companies in our
Treet Group will not, in any case, contribute any amount;

(a)   to any political party; or
(b)   for any political purpose to any individual or body.

Moreover, companies in Treet Group shall not distribute gifts in any form to its members in its meeting.

Investment / Funding and Dividend Policies
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INVESTMENT POLICY

•	 The Executive Committee of the Directors is responsible for seeking/evaluating and recommending either;
•	 Portfolio Investments (i.e. in Shares/ Securities etc. (Fresh Issues or Market Purchase) or Financial claims); or
•	 Investment in New Projects (either equity based or loan based); or
•	 Joint Ventures; or
•	 Investment in Intangibles (Goodwill/ Trade Marks/ Patents etc.)

Moreover, Executive Committee ensures that Proposed Investments are set out in Treet Group’s vision and 
Strategic domain.

FUNDING POLICY

It is Treet Group’s policy not only to utilize funds efficiently but also to seek funds from the cheapest source(s).

Treet Group advertently evaluates, from time to time, different funding options for;

•	 Working Capital Requirements (including import/export financing)
•	 Medium Term Rollovers/Capital Requirements
•	 Long Term Project Based Requirements

These funding options may include;

•	 Internally Generated Funds*
•	 Bank Borrowings (Short Term as well as Long Term)
•	 Trade & Sundry Credits
•	 Debt Instruments (Commercial Papers/ Bonds/ TFC etc.) issued to Institutions or Public in general
•	 Subordinate- Debts
•	 Leasing (Operating as well as Capital)
•	 Equity Financing etc.
*This includes Intra-Treet Group resource sharing. Corporate strategy (by the parent Company i.e. Treet 
Corporation Limited) will seek to develop synergies by sharing and coordinating staff and other resources 
across business units, investing
financial resources across business units, and using business units to complement other corporate business 
activities.

Moreover, the above funding options may augment other ancillary financial products (i.e. derivatives like shares 
options etc.).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The companies in Treet Group in general meeting may declare dividends; but no dividend shall exceed the 
amount recommended by the directors; and

Investment / Funding and Dividend Policies
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Statement of Compliance with Listed Companies
(Code of Corporate Governance) Regulations, 2019
For the Year ended June 30, 2022
The Modaraba has complied with the requirements of the Regulations in the following manner: 

1.	 The total number of directors are seven (7) as per the following:

a)	 Male:		  6
b)	 Female:		 1

2.	 The composition of the Board is as follows:

Category Name
i. Independent Director Dr. Salman Faridi
ii. Non-Executive Directors Mr. Imran Azim (Chairman)

Mr. Munir Karim Bana
Mr. Muhammad Shafique Anjum
Mr. Syed Sheharyar Ali

iii. Executive Director Mr. Syed Shahid Ali (Chief Executive)
iv. Female / Independent Director Ms. Sidra Fatima Sheikh

Determination of number of Independent Directors comes to 2.33 (rounded to 2) which is based on seven 
elected Directors. The fraction of one-third number is not rounded up, as the two elected independent 
directors have requisite competencies, skills, knowledge and experience to discharge and execute their 
duties competently, as per applicable laws and regulations. As they fulfill the necessary requirements 
as per applicable laws and regulations, hence, appointment of a third Independent Director is not 
warranted.

3. The Directors have confirmed that none of them is serving as a Director on more than seven listed 
companies, including this Modaraba. 

4. The Modaraba has prepared a Code of Conduct and has ensured that appropriate steps have been taken 
to disseminate it throughout the Modaraba along with its supporting policies and procedures. 

5. The board has developed a vision / mission statement, overall corporate strategy and significant policies 
of the Modaraba. The Board has ensured that complete record of particulars of the significant policies 
along with their date of approval or updating is maintained by the Modaraba. 

6. All the powers of the Board have been duly exercised and decisions on relevant matters have been 
taken by the Board / certificate holders as empowered by the relevant provisions of the Act and these 
Regulations. 

7. The meetings of the Board were presided over by the Chairman and, in his absence, by a director elected 
by the Board for this purpose. The Board has complied with the requirements of the Companies Act, 
2017 and the Regulations with respect to frequency, recording and circulating minutes of meetings of 
the Board. 

8. The Board have a formal policy and transparent procedures for remuneration of directors in accordance 
with the Act and these Regulations. 
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9. The board arranged training program for the following director during the year. 

(i)	 Syed Sheharyar Ali.	

CCG regulations encourages the director training program of all directors. Being a responsible and 
compliant, Modaraba has already arranged DTP for one director whereas three directors are exempt. 
The remaining three directors are expected to attain DTP certification in due course.

10. No new appointments have been made during the year for the Chief Financial Officer (CFO), the Modaraba 
Secretary and the Head of Internal Audit. However, all such appointments including their remuneration 
and terms and conditions of employment were duly approved by the Board and complied with relevant 
requirements of the Regulations;

11. Chief Financial Officer and Chief Executive Officer duly endorsed the financial statements before approval 
of the Board;

12. The Board has formed committee comprising of members given below:

Audit Committee
Dr. Salman Faridi		  (Chairman)
Mr. Imran Azim			   (Member)
Mr. Munir Karim Bana		  (Member)

Human Resource Committee
Human Resource committee has not been formed as all the work force is outsourced.

13. The terms of reference of the aforesaid committee have been formed, documented and advised to the 
committee for compliance;

14. The frequency of meetings of the committees were as per following:

a)	 Audit Committee (4 Quarterly)

15. The Board has outsourced the internal audit function to M/s Ernst & Young Ford Rhodes, Chartered 
Accountants, who are considered suitably qualified and experienced for the purpose and are conversant 
with the policies and procedures of the company;

16. The statutory auditors of the Modaraba have confirmed that they have been given a satisfactory rating 
under the Quality Control Review program of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan and 
registered with Audit Oversight Board of Pakistan, that they and all their partners are in compliance with 
International Federation of Accountants (IFAC) guidelines on code of ethics as adopted by the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan and they and the partners of the firm involved in the audit are not 
a close relative (spouse, parent, dependent and non-dependent children) of the chief executive officer, 
chief financial officer, head of internal audit, Modaraba secretary or director of the Modaraba. 
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						      For and Behalf of the Board of Directors

Lahore							       Syed Shahid Ali
27th September 2022 					     Chief Executive Officer

17. The statutory auditors or the persons associated with them have not been appointed to provide other 
services except in accordance with the Act, these regulations or any other regulatory requirement and 
the auditors have confirmed that they have observed IFAC guidelines in this regard. 

18. We confirm that all other requirements of Regulations 3,6,7,8,27,32,33 and 36 of the Regulations have 
been complied with. 

Statement of Compliance with Listed Companies
(Code of Corporate Governance) Regulations, 2019
For the Year ended June 30, 2022
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I have conducted the Shari’ah review of First Treet Manufacturing Modaraba managed by Treet Holdings 
Limited Modaraba Management Company for the financial year ended June 30, 2022 in accordance with the 
requirements of the Shari’ah Compliance and Shari’ah Audit Mechanism for Modarabas and report that except 
the observations as reported hereunder, in my opinion:

i.	 The Modaraba has introduced a mechanism which has strengthened the Shari’ah compliance, in letter 
and spirit and the systems, procedures and policies adopted by the Modaraba are in line with the Shari’ah 
principles.

ii.	 The major developments took place during the period included ancillary Shari’ah Compliant Products, 
arrangements for the Equity of Treet Corporation under guidelines issued by the Regulator and staff 
trainings during the period.

iii.	 The agreement(s) entered by the Modaraba are Shari’ah compliant and the financing agreement(s) have 
been executed on the forrmats as approved by the Religious Board of SECP and all the related conditions 
have been met.

iv.	 To the best of my information and according to the explanations given to me, the business transactions 
undertaken by the Modaraba, and overall business operations are in conforrmity with the Shari’ah 
requirements.

v.	 History of certain cases reviewed and approved them according to Shari’ah guidelines
vi.	 Shari’ah compliance review has been conducted and some cases which were required to be consulted in 

accordance with Shari’ah principles has been discussed with concerned staff and dully resolved.
vii.	 Charity amount has been credited to Charity Account.

Observation(s):

Modaraba has an account in conventional bank which is not in compliance with Shari’ah principles. Modaraba 
shall transfer this account to an Islamic bank.

May Allah make us successful in this world and hereafter and forgive our mistakes.

	 MUFTI MUHAMMAD JAVED HASSAN
	 SHARI’AH ADVISOR
Lahore:	
27th September 2022	

Shari’ah Advisor’s Report 
First Treet Manufacturing Modaraba (June 30, 2022)
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Independent Auditor’s Review Report

We have reviewed the enclosed Statement of Compliance with the Listed Companies (Code of Corporate 
Governance) Regulations, 2019 (the Regulations) prepared by the Board of Directors of First Treet Manufacturing 
Modaraba for the year ended 30 June, 2022 in accordance with the requirements of Regulation No. 36 of the 
Regulations.

The responsibility for compliance with the Regulations is that of the Board of Directors of the Company. 
Our responsibility is to review whether the Statement of Compliance reflects the status of the Company’s 
compliance with the provisions of the Regulations and report if it does not and to highlight any non-compliance 
with the requirements of the Regulations. A review is limited primarily to inquiries of the Company’s personnel 
and review of various documents prepared by the Company to comply with the Regulations.

As a part of our audit of the financial statements we are required to obtain an understanding of the accounting 
and internal control systems sufficient to plan the audit and develop an effective audit approach. We are not 
required to consider whether the Board of Directors’ statement on internal control covers all risks and controls 
or to form an opinion on the effectiveness of such internal controls, the Company’s corporate governance 
procedures and risks.

The Regulations require the Company to place before the Audit Committee, and upon recommendation of the 
Audit Committee, place before the Board of Directors for their review and approval, its related party transactions. 
We are only required and have ensured compliance of this requirement to the extent of the approval of the 
related party transactions by the Board of Directors upon recommendation of the Audit Committee.

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention which causes us to believe that the Statement of 
Compliance does not appropriately reflect the Company’s compliance, in all material respects, with the 
requirements contained in the Regulations as applicable to the Company for the year ended 30 June 2022.

Rahman Sarfaraz Rahim Iqbal Rafiq
Chartered Accountants
Engagement Partner: Rashid Rahman Mir

Lahore
6th October 2022

UDIN: CR202210146uW5fdwqPY	

To the Certificate holders of First Treet Manufacturing Modaraba
Review Report on the Statement of Compliance contained in Listed Companies (Code of
Corporate Governance) Regulations, 2019
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Auditors’ Report to The Certificate-Holders

We have audited the annexed balance sheet of First Treet Manufacturing Modaraba (the Modaraba) as at 30 June 2022 and 
the related profit and loss account and the statement of other comprehensive income, cash flow statement and statement 
of changes in equity together with the notes forming part thereof (hereinafter referred to as the financial statements), for 
the year then ended and we state that we have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of our 
knowledge and belief, were necessary for the purposes of our audit.

These financial statements are the modaraba management company’s (Treet Holdings Limited) responsibility who is also 
responsible to establish and maintain a system of internal control, and prepare and present the above said statements 
in conformity with the approved accounting standards as applicable in Pakistan and the requirements of the Modaraba 
Companies and Modaraba (Floatation and Control) Ordinance, 1980 (XXXI of 1980), and the Modaraba Companies and 
Modaraba Rules, 1981. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the auditing standards as applicable in Pakistan. These standards require that 
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of any 
material misstatement. An audit includes examining on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting policies and significant estimates made by the 
modaraba management company, as well as, evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe 
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion and, after due verification, we report that:

(a)	 In our opinion, proper books of accounts have been kept by the modaraba management company in respect of the 
Modaraba as required by the Modaraba Companies and Modaraba (Floatation and Control) Ordinance, 1980 (XXXI of 
1980), and the Modaraba Companies and Modaraba Rules, 1981;

(b)	 In our opinion:

i.	 the balance sheet and profit and loss account and the statement of other comprehensive income together with the 
notes thereon have been drawn up in conformity with the Modaraba Companies and Modaraba (Floatation and Control) 
Ordinance, 1980 (XXXI of 1980) and the Modaraba Companies and Modaraba Rules, 1981, and are in agreement with 
the books of accounts and are further in agreement with accounting policies consistently applied;

ii.	 the expenditure incurred during the year was for the purpose of the Modaraba’s business; and
iii.	 the business conducted, investments made and the expenditure incurred during the year were in accordance with the 

objects, terms and conditions of the Modaraba;

(c)	 In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the balance sheet, 
profit and loss account and the statement of other comprehensive income, cash flow statement and statement of 
changes in equity together with the notes forming part thereof conform with approved accounting standards as 
applicable in Pakistan, and, give the information required by the Modaraba Companies and Modaraba (Floatation and 
Control) Ordinance, 1980 (XXXI of 1980), and the Modaraba Companies and Modaraba Rules, 1981, in the manner so 
required and respectively give a true and fair view of the state of the Modaraba’s  affairs as at 30 June 2022 and of the 
loss and other comprehensive loss, its cash flows and changes in equity for the year then ended; and

(d)	 In our opinion, no Zakat was deductible at source under the Zakat and Ushr Ordinance, 1980 (XVIII of 1980).

Emphasis of Matter
We draw attention to note 1.2 of the financial statements, which discloses that the financial statements have been prepared 
on the going concern basis for the stated reasons that the management has successfully embarked the mitigation plans 
and adopted remedial measures during the year to substantially improve the financial results and health of the Modaraba.

The Modaraba has earned a gross profit of Rs. 284.720 million (2021: gross loss of Rs. 90.144 million), due to increase in 
turnover of Rs. 1,583 million over the previous year which is attributable to increase in sales of battery and corrugation 
segments and a slight decrease in sales of soap segment. The Modaraba has incurred a net loss after tax of Rs. 541.737 
million (2021: Rs. 617.470 million) during the year, which increased its accumulated loss to Rs. 8,141.945 million (2021: Rs. 
7,810.787 million) as at 30 June 2022. The Modaraba has also shown adverse current ratio at the reporting date. These 
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situations indicate the existence of material uncertainty about the conditions and events regarding the future operations of 
the Modaraba which may cast significant doubt about the Modaraba’s ability to continue as a going concern and, therefore, 
the Modaraba may be unable to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Other Matter
The financial statements of the Modaraba for the year ended 30 June 2021, were audited by another auditor who issued an 
unmodified report on the financial statements on 29 October 2021 with Emphasis of Matter paragraphs.

  							     
	

Rahman Sarfaraz Rahim Iqbal Rafiq
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS
(Engagement Partner: Rashid Rahman Mir)	

Lahore
6th October 2022

UDIN: AR2022101463tCo78XE9	

Auditors’ Report to The Certificate-Holders
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Balance Sheet
As at 30 June 2022

Note 2022 2021
(Rupees in thousand)

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 4  8,368,276  8,600,603 
Right of use asset (ROU) 5  25,641  62,607 
Long term deposits 6  59,013  44,955 

  8,452,930  8,708,165 
Current assets
Stores and spares 7  117,501  86,952 
Stock in trade 8  1,164,970  1,136,376 
Short term investment 9  -    60,000 
Trade debtors 10  765,525  702,920 
Advances, deposits, prepayments and other receivables 11  156,382  87,168 
Tax refunds due from the Government 12  684,804  726,765 
Cash and bank balances 13  237,036  111,200 

 3,126,218  2,911,381 
Non current assets held for sale 14  -    380,275 
Total current assets  3,126,218  3,291,656 

Total assets  11,579,148  11,999,821 

Equity and liabilities

Certificate capital and reserves:

Certificate capital 15  8,835,903  7,000,000 
Deposits for purchase of certificates 16  1  1,835,904 

Capital reserves
Statutory reserve 17  511,941  511,941 
Certificate premium 18  1,952,870  1,952,870 
Surplus on revaluation of property, plant and equipment 19  1,212,893  1,423,472 

 3,677,704  3,888,283 

Revenue reserves
Accumulated loss  (8,141,947)  (7,810,787)
Certificate holders’ equity  4,371,661  4,913,400 

Non-current liabilities
Lease liability 20  18,962  40,126 
Deferred taxation 21  314,347  386,279 

 333,309  426,405 
Current liabilities
Retention money payable  11,590  12,953 
Current portion of lease liability 20  5,604  14,385 
Short term borrowings 22  5,569,103  5,242,113 
Trade and other payables 23  1,090,167  1,236,768 
Accrued profit on secured borrowings  101,734  61,623 
Provision for taxation  95,980  92,174 

 6,874,178  6,660,016 

Contingencies and commitments 24 - -

Total equity and liabilities  11,579,148  11,999,821 

The annexed notes 1 to 41 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Syed Shahid Ali
Chief Executive Officer

Imran Azim
Director

Syed Sheharyar Ali
Director

LAHORE
27th September 2022

Mohtashim Aftab
Group Chief Financial Officer



30 FIRST TREET MANUFACTURING MODARABA

Profit and Loss Account & the Statement of
Other Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2022

Note 2022 2021
(Rupees in thousand)

Revenue - net 25  7,678,361  6,094,863 
Cost of sales 26  (7,393,642)  (6,185,007)
Gross profit/ (loss)  284,719  (90,144)

Operating expenses
Administration and general expenses 27  (78,296)  (123,736)
Selling and distribution expenses 28  (421,628)  (448,128)
Other expenses 29  (64,468)  (30,188)

 (564,392)  (602,052)
Operating loss  (279,673)  (692,196)

Finance cost 30  (480,392)  (789,992)
Other income 31  241,256  946,450 
Loss before taxation  (518,809)  (535,738)
Taxation 32  (22,929)  (81,732)
Loss after taxation  (541,738)  (617,470)

Other comprehensive income -

Items that may not be reclassified to profit and loss account

Surplus on revaluation of property, plant and equipment  -    1,405,203 
Less: Deferred tax attributable to revaluation surplus  -    (387,449)

 -    1,017,754 
Items that may be reclassified to profit and loss account - -

Total comprehensive (loss)/ income for the year  (541,738)  400,284 

Loss per Modaraba certificate -basic and diluted 33  (0.63)  (2.42)

The annexed notes 1 to 41 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Syed Shahid Ali
Chief Executive Officer

Imran Azim
Director

Syed Sheharyar Ali
Director

LAHORE
27th September 2022

Mohtashim Aftab
Group Chief Financial Officer
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2022

Capital Reserves Revenue
 Reserve

TotalCertificate 
capital

Deposit for 
purchase of 
Certificates

Certificate 
premium

Statutory 
reserve

Surplus on 
revaluation 
of Property, 

plant & 
equipment - 

net of tax

 Accumulat-
ed loss 

-------------------------------(Rupees in thousand)-------------------------------

Balance as at 1 July 2020  1,956,000  -    1,952,870  511,941  407,835  (7,195,434)  (2,366,788)

Total comprehensive income for the year
Loss after taxation  -    -    -    -    -    (617,470)  (617,470)
Other comprehensive income  -    -    -    -    1,017,754  -    1,017,754 

 -    -    -    -    1,017,754  (617,470)  400,284 

Transactions with the entity’s owners
Surplus transferred to accumulated loss on 
account of - Incremental depreciation charged 
during the year - net of deferred tax	  -    -    -    -    (2,117)  2,117  -   
Conversion of borrowings from Treet 
Corporation Limited into certificate capital  5,044,000  -    -    -    -    -    5,044,000 
Transferred from short term borrowings -
Treet Corporation Limited  -  1,835,904  -  -  -  -  1,835,904 

Balance as at 30 June 2021  7,000,000  1,835,904  1,952,870  511,941  1,423,472  (7,810,787)  4,913,400 

Total comprehensive income for the year
Loss after taxation  -    -    -    -    -    (541,738)  (541,738)
Other comprehensive income  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

 -    -    -    -    -    (541,738)  (541,738)

Transactions with the entity's owners
Surplus transferred to accumulated loss on 
account of - Incremental depreciation charged 
during the year - net of deferred tax  -    -    -    -    (65,629)  65,629  -   
Disposal of assets held for sale  -    -    -    -    (144,950)  144,950  -   
Issuance of certificate capital to Treet 
Corporation Limited from deposit for purchase 
of certificates  1,835,903  (1,835,903)  -    -    -    -    -   

Balance as at 30 June 2022  8,835,903  1  1,952,870  511,941  1,212,893  (8,141,947)  4,371,661 

The annexed notes 1 to 41 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Syed Shahid Ali
Chief Executive Officer

Imran Azim
Director

Syed Sheharyar Ali
Director

LAHORE
27th September 2022

Mohtashim Aftab
Group Chief Financial Officer
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Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 30 June 2022

2022 2021
Note (Rupees in thousand)

Cash flow from operating activities

Loss before taxation  (518,809)  (535,738)

Adjustment for non-cash items:
Depreciation on operating fixed assets  310,641  394,697 
Depreciation on ROU asset  6,745  15,652 
(Gain)/ loss on disposal of fixed assets  (201,776)  82 
Allowance for expected credit losses  24,534  -   
CWIP expensed out  -    16,183 
Impairment of other receivables - Loads Limited, related party  -    7,520 
Write down in the value of stock in trade  -    2,434 
Provision for warranty  127,696  160,532 
Reversal of impairment under expected credit loss  -    (20,091)
Exchange loss/ (gain)  17,342  (2,143)
Fair value gain on operating fixed assets  -    (915,965)
Loss on lease cancellation  4,735  -   
Finance cost  480,392  789,992 

 770,309  448,893 
Operating profit/ (loss) before working capital changes  251,500  (86,845)
(Increase)/ decrease in current assets:
Stores and spares  (30,549)  18,719 
Stock in trade  (28,594)  77,763 
Short term investment  60,000  (60,000)
Trade debtors  (62,605)  (137,315)
Advances, deposits, prepayments and other receivables  (69,213)  37,868 
Tax refunds due from the Government  25,038  133,162 

 (105,923)  70,197 
Increase / (decrease) in current liabilities:
Retention money payable  (1,363)  (1,610)
Trade and other payables  (318,781)  523,188 
Cash (used in)/ generated from operations  (174,567)  504,930 
Finance cost paid  (794,216)  (993,534)
Income tax paid - net  (74,133)  (16,139)
Long term deposits  (14,058)  (1,704)
Net cash used in operating activities  (1,056,974)  (506,447)

Cash flow from investing activities
Additions in capital work in progress  (78,315)  (12,752)
Proceeds from sale of operating fixed assets  540,051  126 
Net cash generated from/ (used in) investing activities  461,736  (12,626)

Cash flow from financing activities
Short term borrowings acquired from banking companies - net  (1,143,521)  (138,980)
Payment of lease liability including prepayments  (7,114)  (15,980)
Borrowings from related party - parent company - net  1,827,101  609,637 
Net cash generated from financing activities  676,466  454,677 

Net increase/ (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  81,228  (64,395)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  72,573  136,968 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  153,801  72,573 

The reconciliation in cash and cash equivalents is as follows:

Cash and bank balances 13  237,036  111,200 
Temporary book overdraft - unsecured 23  (83,235)  (38,626)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  153,801  72,574 

The annexed notes 1 to 41 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Syed Shahid Ali
Chief Executive Officer

Imran Azim
Director

Syed Sheharyar Ali
Director

LAHORE
27th September 2022

Mohtashim Aftab
Group Chief Financial Officer
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022

1 LEGAL STATUS AND NATURE OF BUSINESS

1.1 First Treet Manufacturing Modaraba (the Modaraba) is a multipurpose, perpetual and multi dimensional 
Modaraba formed on 27 July 2005 under the Modaraba Companies and Modaraba (Floatation and Control) 
Ordinance, 1980 and rules framed there under and is managed by Treet Holdings Limited (a wholly 
owned subsidiary of Treet Corporation Limited, a parent Company of the Modaraba), incorporated in 
Pakistan under the (repealed) Companies Ordinance, 1984 and registered with the Registrar of Modaraba 
Companies. The registered office of the Modaraba and its management company is situated at 72 - B, Kot 
Lakhpat, Industrial Area, Lahore. The Modaraba is listed on Pakistan Stock Exchange Limited (Formerly 
Lahore Stock Exchange (Guarantee) Limited).  The Modaraba is engaged in the manufacture and sale of 
corrugated boxes, soaps and batteries.

1.2 The Modaraba has earned a gross profit of Rs. 284.719 million (2021: gross loss of Rs. 90.144  million) and 
net loss after tax of Rs. 541.738 million (2021: Rs. 617.470 million) during the year, whereas its accumulated 
loss of Rs. 8,141.947 million (2021: Rs. 7,810.787 million) stated at 30 June 2022. The Modaraba has also 
shown adverse current ratio at the reporting dates. These situations indicate the existence of material 
uncertainty about the conditions and events regarding the future operations of the Modaraba which may 
cast significant doubt about the Modaraba’s ability to continue as a going concern and, therefore, the 
Modaraba may be unable to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

For the year turnover is Rs. 7,678.361 million, registering an increase of Rs. 1,583.499 million (26%) over the 
previous year. The increase in turnover is mainly attributable to increase in sales of battery and corrugation, 
partially offset by decreased sales of soap segment.  

For the year, net loss is Rs. 541.738 million which shows significant improvement over the last year (2021: 
net loss Rs. 617.470 million). The improvement is primarily due to increased sales volumes and increase 
in sales price, resulted in better absorption of fixed overheads hence improvement in gross profit to Rs. 
284.719 million (2021: Gross loss Rs. 90.144 million) and improvement in battery plant efficiency and 
rationalization of costs through rigorous cost controlling measures has helped in reducing the losses. 

To continually improve the operation of the Modaraba the management has following plan that has been 
approved by the Board of Directors (BOD) and is at different stages of implementation:

Following major operational steps have been taken by the management to improve the operations of the 
business, and these measures are being implemented which will surely improve the business performance:

i) Battery Prices Rationalization:
Battery pricing was continually reviewed in line with competitors and market dynamics. In line with the 
pricing strategy since July 2021, eight (8) price increases have been made which were absorbed by the 
market.

ii) Improvement in plant efficiency:
Continuous improvement in manufacturing strategy that has resulted in better plant utilization and 
resultantly delivered enhanced production. 

iii) Reduction in administrative costs:
Following up on resource localization approach, the battery plant operations are now being fully managed 
by trained local team. This has resulted in considerable overhead reduction. The local team is supported by 
only one Korean expat in the domain of R&D and Quality.
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In case of corrugation segment, the prices of the products have much improved and rationalized over the 
period and the Modaraba has successfully passed on the cost increase effect of the factor’s inputs to 
the customers. Apart from this, a better sales management by focusing on high margin customers, cost 
controlling and improving plant operational efficiency has resulted in improved margins.

iv) Organizational restructuring:
Following organizational restructurings have been made during the year:

A new COO-battery division has been appointed effective August 2022. He is expected to lead remarkable 
transformation in both domains through improving plant reliability, enhancing production output, 
implementing lean inventory model and enabling record volumes. He will report to the Executive Director.

•	 A new Head Sales & Marketing – battery division has been appointed effective August 2022. The 
incumbent has extensive experience in battery sales in local market nationwide. 

•	 A new position has been created to look into the export opportunities of the battery. Head Battery 
Exports and OEM (Original Equipment Manufacturer) has been appointed. He will use his experience 
and expertise to enhance Exports and OEM business channels.

v) Financial plan:
In addition to the remedial measures for the continued and sustainable operational performance of the 
Modaraba, the sponsoring directors of the parent company in order to provide financial support to the 
Modaraba, safeguarding its capital base and improving its financial ratios, had approved the decision for 
the conversion of loan provided by parent company into equity fund of the Modaraba which had also been 
approved by the regulators in previous year. Following this approval, 183,590,293 Modaraba certificate of Rs. 
10 each have been issued to the parent company during the current year from the amount transferred to 
deposit for purchase of certificates during last year. Towards the endeavor of providing continued financial 
assistance, after reporting date the parent company and its sponsoring directors have also committed to 
lend Rs. 2 billion, to the Modaraba for the repayment of its debt from financial institutions. This loan will 
eventually be converted into Modaraba equity through “Issue other than right”. This financial plan has been 
approved by the BOD of the company. In view of the above stated facts, the management believes that the 
Modaraba will continue to operate as a viable venture in foreseeable future. 

Accordingly, the going concern assumption used by the management in the preparation of these financial 
statements is appropriate.

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION

2.1 Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the approved accounting standards 
as applicable in Pakistan. Approved accounting standards comprise of such International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board as are notified under 
the Companies Act, 2017, Islamic Financial Accounting Standards issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of Pakistan, provisions of and directives issued under Modaraba Companies and Modaraba 
(Floatation and Control) Ordinance, 1980, Modaraba Companies and Modaraba Rules, 1981 and directives 
issued by Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP). In case requirements of IFRS differ, the 
provisions of or directives issued under the Modaraba Companies and Modaraba (Floatation and Control) 
Ordinance, 1980 and Modaraba Companies and Modaraba Rules, 1981 and directives issued by SECP shall 
prevail.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022
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2.2 Basis of measurement

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for land, 
buildings and plant and machinery which are carried at revalued amount and stock in trade which is carried 
at the lower of cost and net realizable value.

2.3 Presentation

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022

The financial statements have been presented in Pak Rupees, which is also the Company’s presentation 
and functional currency. Figures have been rounded off to the nearest Rupee in thousands. The 
corresponding figures are regrouped/ rearranged for the purpose of comparison. Appropriate disclosure is 
given in relevant note in case of material rearrangement.

2.4 Significant accounting estimates, judgements and assumptions

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the approved accounting standards requires 
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies 
and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making judgments about the carrying 
values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ 
from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognized in the period in which estimates are revised if the revision affects only that 
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 
periods.

The areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the Modaraba’s financial statements or 
where judgment was exercised in application of accounting policies are as follows:

2.4.1 Useful life and residual values of property, plant and equipment

The Modaraba reviews the useful life and residual value of property, plant and equipment on regular basis 
to determine that expectations are not significantly changed from the previous estimates.  Further, where 
applicable, an estimate of the recoverable amount of assets is made for possible impairment on an annual 
basis. In making these estimates, the Modaraba uses the technical resources available with it. Any change 
in the estimates in the future might affect the carrying amount of respective item of property, plant and 
equipment, with corresponding effects on the depreciation/ amortization charge and impairment, if any.

2.4.2 Useful life of right-of-use asset and lease liabilities

The Modaraba determines the lease term as the non cancellable term of the lease, together with any 
periods covered by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods 
covered  by an option to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised. The Modaraba 
has a lease contract that include extension and termination options. The Modaraba applies judgement in 
evaluating whether it is reasonably certain whether or not to exercise the option to renew or terminate 
the lease. That is, it considers all relevant factors that create an economic incentive for it to exercise either 
the renewal or termination. After the commencement date, the Modaraba reassesses the lease term if 
there is a significant event or change in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to 
exercise or not to exercise the option to renew or to terminate (e.g. construction of significant leasehold 
improvements or significant customization to the leased asset).
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2.4.3 Revaluation of property, plant and equipment

Revaluation of certain classes of property, plant and equipment is carried out by an independent professional 
valuer. Revalued amounts of non depreciable items are determined by reference to local market values 
and that of depreciable items are determined by reference to current depreciated replacement values.

The frequency of revaluations depends upon the changes in fair values of the items of property, plant 
and equipment being revalued. When the fair value of a revalued asset differs materially from its carrying 
amount, a further revaluation is required. Such frequent revaluations are unnecessary for items of property, 
plant and equipment with only insignificant changes in fair value. Instead, it may be necessary to revalue 
the item only every three to five years.

2.4.4 Recoverable amount of non financial assets and impairment

The management of the Modaraba reviews carrying amounts of its non financial assets and cash 
generating units for possible impairment and makes formal estimates of recoverable amount if there is 
any such indication.

2.4.5 Stock in trade and stores and spare parts

The Modaraba reviews the net realizable value of items of stores, spare parts and loose tools and stock in 
trade to assess any possible impairment on annual basis. Net realizable value is estimated with reference 
to the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated cost necessary to make 
the sale. Any change in the estimates in the future might affect the carrying amount of respective item 
of store, spare parts and loose tools and stock in trade, with corresponding effects on the provision for 
impairment, if any.

2.4.6 Allowance for expected credit losses

The allowance for expected credit losses assessment requires a degree of estimation and judgement. It 
is based on the lifetime expected credit loss, grouped based on days overdue, and makes assumptions 
to allocate an overall expected credit loss rate for each group. These assumptions include recent sales 
experience, historical collection rates and forward looking information for macro economic factors i.e. 
interest rates, inflation rates, unemployment rates, GDP rates etc.

2.4.7 Provision for warranty

The Modaraba reviews the best estimate of the warranty expense at the balance sheet date based on 
the past practice of customer claims and quantum of warranty expenses incurred during the year. While 
making the estimate, the Modaraba takes into account the frequency of customer complaints, the past 
and expected trend of defects in the product etc.

2.4.8 Employees' retirement benefits

The calculation of the benefit requires assumptions to be made of future outcomes, the principal ones 
being in respect of increase in remuneration and the discount rate used to convert future cash flows to 
current values. The assumptions used for the plan are determined by independent actuary on annual 
basis.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022



Annual
Report 372022

2.4.10 Provision for income taxes

Instances where the Modaraba’s view differs with the view taken by the income tax department at the 
assessment stage and where the Modaraba considers that its view on items of a material nature is in 
accordance with the law, the amounts are shown as contingent liabilities.

2.5 INITIAL APPLICATION OF A STANDARD, AMENDMENT OR AN INTERPRETATION TO AN EXISTING STANDARD 
AND FORTHCOMING REQUIREMENTS

The amount of the expected return on plan assets is calculated using the expected rate of return for the 
year and the market related value at the beginning of the year. Gratuity cost primarily represents the 
increase in actuarial present value of the obligation for benefits earned on employee service during the 
year and the interest on the obligation in respect of employee service in previous years, net of the expected 
return on plan assets. Calculations are sensitive to changes in the underlying assumptions.

2.4.9 Contingencies

The Modaraba has disclosed significant contingent liabilities for the pending litigations and claims against 
it based on its judgment and the advice of the legal advisors for the estimated financial outcome. The 
actual outcome of these litigations and claims can have an effect on the carrying amounts of the liabilities 
recognized at the balance sheet date. However, based on the best judgment of the Modaraba and its legal 
advisors, the likely outcome of these litigations and claims is remote and there is no need to recognize any 
liability at the balance sheet date.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022

a) Standards and interpretations that became effective but are not relevant to the Modaraba:

The following standards (revised or amended) and interpretations became effective for the current 
financial year but are either not relevant or do not have any material effect on the financial statements of 
the Modaraba other than increased disclosures in certain cases:

•	 IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments (Amendment regarding interest rate benchmark reform-Phase-2). 
•	 IAS 39 - Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement - (Amendment regarding interest rate 

benchmark reform-Phase-2). 
•	 IFRS 7 - Financial Instruments: Disclosures - (Amendment regarding interest rate benchmark reform-

Phase-2). 
•	 IFRS 16 Leases- (Amendment regarding interest rate benchmark reform-Phase-2). 
•	 IFRS-16 Leases- (Amendment to Covid-19 related rent concession beyond 30 June 2021). 

b) Forthcoming requirements not effective in current year and not considered relevant:

The following standards (revised or amended) and interpretations became effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after the mentioned dates but are either not relevant or do not have any material effect on 
the financial statements of the Modaraba other than increased disclosures in certain cases:

•	 IFRS 3 - Business Combinations - (Amendments updating a reference to the Conceptual Framework)-
(applicable for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022). 

•	 IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments - (Amendments to 10 percent test for derecognition of financial 
liabilities in fee)-(applicable for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022). 
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•	 IFRS 10/ IAS 28 - Consolidated Financial Statements and Investment in Associates - (Amendment 
regarding the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture) - 
(Application date not yet finalized). 

•	 IAS 16- Property, Plant and Equipment - (Amendments regarding proceeds before intended use) - 
(applicable for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022). 

•	 IAS 1- Presentation of Financial Statements - (Amendment regarding classification of liabilities as 
current and non-current)- (Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023). 

•	 IAS 1- Presentation of Financial Statements - (Amendments regarding the disclosure of accounting 
policies)- (Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023). 

•	 IAS 8- Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors - (Amendments regarding 
the definition of accounting estimates)- (Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2023). 

•	 IAS 12- Income Taxes - (Amendments regarding deferred tax related to assets and laibilities arising 
from single transaction)-(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023). 

•	 IAS 16- Property, Plant and Equipment - (Amendments prohibiting a company from deducting from 
the cost of property, plant and equipment amounts received from selling items produced while the 
Company is preparing the asset for its intended use)-(effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2022).

•	 IAS 37- Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets - (Amendments regarding the costs 
to include when assessing whether a contract is onerous)-(effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2022). 

•	 IAS 41 - Agriculture - (Amendment regarding taxation in fair value measurement) - (effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023). 

Other than the aforesaid standards, interpretations and amendments, the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB) has also issued the following standards which have not been adopted locally by 
the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan:

•	  IFRS 1 – First Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards 
•	  IFRS 17 – Insurance Contracts 

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The significant accounting policies adopted in preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These 
policies hase been consistently applied to all periods presented in these financial statements.

3.1 Taxation

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognized in profit and loss account 
except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity, in which case it is recognized in 
equity.

Current

The charge for current taxation is based on taxable income at current rates of taxation after taking into 
account tax credits, rebates and exemptions available, if any, or minimum tax u/s 113 of the Income Tax 
Ordinance 2001  or Alternative Corporate Tax at the rate of 17% of accounting profit adjustable as per 
income tax laws, whichever is higher. The charge for current tax includes adjustments to charge for prior 
years, if any. For income covered under final tax regime, provision for taxation is made as per the tax rules 
applicable to that regime in accordance with the provisions of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022
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Deferred

Deferred tax is accounted for by using the balance sheet liability method in respect of all temporary timing 
differences arising from difference between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the financial 
statements and corresponding tax basis used in the computation of taxable profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are 
recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward unused tax assets and unused tax 
losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 
temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses can be utilized.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the 
deferred income tax assets to be utilized.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period 
when the liability is settled based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the 
balance sheet date. In this regard, the effects on deferred taxation of the proportion of income that is 
subject to final tax regime is also considered in accordance with the treatment prescribed by the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan (ICAP).

Deferred tax is charged or credited in the profit and loss account, except where deferred tax arises on the 
items directly credited or charged to equity in which case it is included in equity. Changes in deferred tax 
assets or liabilities are recognized as a component of tax income or expense in profit or loss, except where 
these relate to items that are recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case 
the related deferred tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income or equity, respectively.

3.2 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses, if any except for freehold land, buildings, leasehold improvements and plant and machinery. 
Freehold land is stated at revalued amount carried out by independent valuers by reference to its current 
market price less impairment loss, if any (refer to note - 4.1.5). Buildings, leasehold improvements and 
plant and machinery are stated at revalued amounts carried out by independent valuers by reference to 
its current market price less accumulated depreciation and impairment loss, if any (refer to note - 4.1.5). 
Any accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount 
of the buildings, and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the plant and machinery. Cost 
in relation to property, plant and equipment comprises acquisition and other directly attributable costs. 
The cost of self constructed assets includes the cost of materials, direct labor and any other costs directly 
attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their use as intended by the management.

Depreciation is provided on straight line method at rates specified in note 4.1 to the financial statements 
so as to write off the cost of property, plant and equipment over their estimated useful life. Depreciation 
on additions to property, plant and equipment is charged from the day on which an asset is available for 
use till the day the asset is retired from active use or the asset is disposed off. 

Residual value and the useful life of assets are reviewed at each financial year end, and adjusted if 
expectations differ significantly from previous estimates and impact on depreciation is significant.

Residual values are determined by the management as the amount it expects it would receive currently 
for an item of property, plant and equipment if it was already of the age and in the condition expected at 
the end of its useful life based on the prevailing market prices of similar assets already at the end of their 
useful lives.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022
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Useful lives are determined by the management based on the expected usage of assets, physical wear and 
tear, technical and commercial obsolescence, legal and similar limits on the use of the assets and other 
similar factors.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 
the Modaraba and cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are 
charged to profit and loss account as and when incurred.

Gain and loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined by comparing the 
proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment, and is recognized as 
income or expense in the profit and loss account. 

Capital work in progress

Capital work in progress represents expenditure on property, plant and equipment in the course of 
construction and installation. Transfers are made to relevant category of property, plant and equipment 
as and when assets are available for use. Capital work in progress is stated at cost, less any identified 
impairment loss.

Impairment tests for property, plant and equipment are performed annually or whenever there is an 
indication of impairment.

3.3 Right-of-use asset

The Modaraba recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The 
right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability 
adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct 
costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the 
underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight line method from the commencement 
date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The 
estimated useful lives of right-of-use assets are determined on the same basis as those of property, plant 
and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and 
adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

3.4 Non-current assets held for sale	

Non-current assets are classified as assets held for sale if it is highly probable that their carrying amount 
will be recovered principally through sale rather than through continuing use. Such non-current assets or 
disposal groups are valued at lower of cost and fair value less cost to sell.

Once classified as held for sale, intangible assets and property plant and equipment are no longer amortized 
or depreciated, and any equity accounted investee is no longer equity accounted.

The gain or loss on disposal  of non-current assets held for sale represented by the difference between 
the sale proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is recognized as income or expense in profit and 
loss account. 

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022
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3.5 Lease liability

The lease liability is initially measured at present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 
commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be 
readily determined, the Modaraba’s incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise of the following:	

- fixed payments, including in substance fixed payments;
- variable lease payments that depend on an index, or a rate, initially measured using the index or 

rate as at commencement date;
- amount expected to be payable under a residual guarantee; and
- the exercise under purchase option that the Modaraba is reasonably certain to exercise, lease 

payments in an optional renewal period if the Modaraba is reasonably certain to exercise an 
extension option, and penalties for early termination of lease unless the Modaraba is reasonably 
certain not to terminate early.

The lease liability is measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured 
when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a 
change Modaraba’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or if 
the Modaraba changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase or termination option. When 
the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of 
the right-of-use-asset, or is recorded in profit and loss account if the carrying amount of the right-of-use 
asset has been reduced to zero.

Payments associated with short term leases and all leases of low value assets are recognized on a straight 
line basis as an expense in profit and loss account. Short term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 
months or less without a purchase option.

3.6 Stores and spares

These are valued at  the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of inventory is based on moving 
average cost. Items in transit are stated at cost plus directly attributable expenses incidental thereto 
accumulated up to the date of balance sheet. The Modaraba reviews the carrying amount of stores and 
spares on a regular basis and provision is made for obsolescence if there is any change in usage pattern 
and physical form of related stores, spares and loose tools. 

Net realizable value specifies the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the 
estimated cost of completion and cost necessarily to be incurred to make the sale.

3.7 Stock in trade

Stock of raw materials and packing materials are valued at lower of moving average cost and net realizable 
value except for stock in transit which is valued at invoice price and related expenses. Cost in relation 
to work in process and finished goods includes prime cost and appropriate proportion of production 
overheads. Net realizable value signifies the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less 
estimated cost of completion and the cost necessary to be incurred to make the sales.

3.8 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using 
the effective interest method, less any allowance for expected credit losses. Trade receivables generally do 
not include amounts over due by 365 days.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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The Modaraba has applied the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses, which uses a 
lifetime expected loss allowance. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been 
grouped based on days overdue.

Other receivables are recognized at amortized cost, less any allowance for expected credit losses.

3.9 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the balance sheet at cost. For the purpose of cash flow statement, 
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, current and deposit account balances with banks net of 
overdrawn book balances, if any.

3.10 Trade and other payables

Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the 
normal operating cycle of business, if longer), if not, they are classified as non-current liabilities.

Liabilities for trade and other amounts payable are carried at cost which is the fair value of the consideration 
to be paid in future for goods and services received whether or not billed to the Modaraba.

3.11 Financial instruments

Recognition and measurement
Financial assets and liabilities are recognized, when the Modaraba becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument and derecognized when the Modaraba loses control of the contractual rights 
to receive cash flows from the assets that comprise the financial asset or the rights have been transferred 
and the Modaraba has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership or the enterprise 
loses control of the contractual rights that comprise financial assets or a portion of financial assets. In 
case of financial liabilities when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired.

Financial assets are short term investments, trade and other receivables, advances and cash and bank 
balances. The Modaraba derecognizes a financial asset or a portion of financial asset when, and only when, 
the right to receive the cash flows from the assets have been expired or have been transferred; and the 
Modaraba has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership or the enterprise loses 
control of the contractual rights that comprise financial assets or a portion of financial assets.

The Modaraba has classified its financial assets based on the requirements as set out in IFRS 9 – Financial 
Instruments. IFRS 9 sets out the requirements for recognizing and measuring financial assets, financial 
liabilities and some contracts to buy or sell non financial items and contains three principal classifications 
categories of financial assets: measured at amortized cost, fair value through other comprehensive 
income and fair value through profit or loss. The classification of financial assets are generally based on 
the business model in which the financial asset is managed and its contractual cash flow characteristics. 

Financial assets

(a) Financial Asset at Amortized Cost

A financial asset shall be measured at amortized cost if both of the following conditions are met:

Notes to the Financial Statements
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i) The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in 
order to collect contractual cash flows and ;

ii) The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on principal amount outstanding.

(b) Financial Asset at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income

A financial asset shall be measured at fair value through other comprehensive income if both of 
the following conditions are met:

i) The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and; 

ii) The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on principal amount outstanding.

(c) Financial Asset at Fair Value through Profit or Loss

A financial asset shall be measured at fair value through profit or loss unless it is measured at 
amortized cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Recognition and measurement

Financial assets at initial recognition are measured at its fair value of the consideration given. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets shall be classified at amortized cost using 
effective interest method, fair value through other comprehensive income with changes in fair 
value recognized in other comprehensive income and fair value through profit or loss with changes 
in fair value recognized in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognized according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered 
into. At the time of initial recognition, all financial liabilities shall be measured at fair value plus or minus 
transaction cost that are directly attributable to the issue of a financial liability. Financial liabilities shall 
subsequently be measured at amortized cost. Significant financial liabilities are short term borrowings, due 
to related party, retention money payable, trade and other payables.

Any gain or loss on subsequent remeasurement to fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities is 
taken to profit and loss account in the year in which it arises.

Offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities

A financial asset and liability is offset against each other and the net amount is reported  in  the balance 
sheet if the Modaraba has legally enforceable right to set off the recognized amount and intends either to 
settle on net basis or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022



44 FIRST TREET MANUFACTURING MODARABA

3.12 Impairment

Financial assets

A financial asset is impaired if the credit risk on that financial asset has increased significantly since the 
initial recognition. Loss allowance for ECL on a financial asset is recognized to account for impairment. 

If a financial asset has low credit risk at the date of initial application of IFRS 9, then the Modaraba has 
assumed that the credit risk on the asset had not increased significantly since its initial recognition.

The Modaraba recognizes lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial instrument has not increased significantly since 
initial recognition, the Modaraba measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount 
equal to 12 month ECL. Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible 
default events over the expected life of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12 month ECL represents the 
portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events on a financial instrument that are 
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. 

Non-financial assets

The carrying amount of the Modaraba’s non financial assets, other than inventories are reviewed at each 
reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, 
then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. A cash generating unit is the smallest identifiable 
asset group that generates cash flows that largely are independent from other assets and groups. The 
recoverable amount of an asset or cash generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value 
less cost to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
values using a pre tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the asset or cash generating unit. 

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of the assets or its cash generating unit exceeds its 
estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized in profit and loss account. Impairment 
losses recognized in respect of cash generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of 
any goodwill allocated to the cash generating unit and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other 
assets in the unit on a pro rata basis. Impairment losses recognized in prior periods are assessed at each 
reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss 
is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An 
impairment loss is reversed only to that extent that the asset’s carrying amount after the reversal does 
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation and amortization, if 
no impairment loss had been recognized.

3.13 Equity, reserves and profit distribution

Certificate capital represents the face value of certificates that have been issued. Any transaction costs 
associated with the issuing of certificates are deducted from share certificate capital, net of any related 
income tax benefits, if any.

Retained earnings/ accumulated loss include all current and prior period retained profits/ losses.

Profit distribution to the certificate holders is recognized in the period in which it is approved.
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3.14 Surplus on revaluation of property, plant and equipment

The surplus arising on revaluation of property, plant and equipment, computed by eliminating the 
accumulated depreciation as at the date of revaluation, is credited to the “Surplus on revaluation of 
property, plant and equipment”’ presented and recognized in the statement of comprehensive income and 
accumulated in the statement of changes in equity as a capital reserve. Following amounts are transferred 
from “Surplus on revaluation of property, plant and equipment” to retained earnings/ (accumulated loss) 
through statement of changes in equity to record realization of surplus:

o an amount equal to incremental depreciation - net of tax on revaluation surplus on property, plant and 
equipment for the year, if any; or

o an amount equal to carrying amount of revaluation surplus on property, plant and equipment, if any, on 
its disposal.

3.15 Borrowings and borrowing costs

These are initially recognized at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs, if any. Difference 
between the fair value and proceeds of borrowings is recognized as income or expense in the profit and 
loss account. Subsequently these are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowing costs are interest or other costs incurred by the Modaraba in connection with the borrowing 
of funds. Borrowing cost that is directly attributable to qualifying assets is capitalized as part of cost of 
that assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. All other 
borrowing costs are charged to profit and loss account whenever incurred. 

3.16 Employees retirement benefits - related party
Defined contribution scheme

A recognized contributory provident fund scheme namely “Treet Corporation Limited - Group Employees 
Provident Fund” is in operation covering all permanent employees. Equal contributions are made monthly 
both by the Group and employees in accordance with the rules of the scheme at 10% of the basic pay. 

Another recognized contributory fund scheme is “Treet Corporation Limited - Group Employee Service 
Fund” which covers all permanent management employees. In accordance with the rules of the scheme, 
equal monthly contributions are made both by the Group and employees at 10% of the basic pay from the 
date the employee gets permanent status.  Additional contributions may be made by the Modaraba for 
those employees who have at the most 15 years of service remaining before reaching retirement age, 
however, employee can start their additional contribution above the threshold limit of 10% of basic pay at 
any time.

A recognized contributory fund scheme namely “Treet Corporation Limited - Group Employees Benevolent 
Fund” in operation for the benefit of employees if the employee opts for the scheme.  The contributions to 
the fund are made @ 10% of employees basic salary on monthly basis by both employee and the Group. 
Periodic bonuses by the Modaraba to all the employees in any year, not exceeding one month’s basic salary 
of an employee, is credited to his personal account in the Fund at the sole discretion of the Modaraba. 
The BOD of the parent company of the Modaraba has freezed this fund w.e.f. 04 February 2020 and no 
contribution is being credited to the fund since that date.
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An unrecognized contributory fund scheme namely, “Treet Corporation Limited - Group Employees Housing 
Fund Scheme” is in operation covering permanent management employees with minimum five years of 
service with the Modaraba. Equal contributions are made monthly both by the Group and employees in 
accordance with the rules of the Scheme at 20% of the basic pay. The BOD of the parent company of the 
Modaraba has freezed this fund w.e.f. 04 February 2020 and no contribution is being credited to the fund 
since that date.

Defined benefit scheme

An approved funded gratuity scheme and a funded superannuation schemes are  in operation for all 
employees with qualifying service periods of six months and ten years respectively. These are operated 
through “Treet Corporation Limited - Group Employees Gratuity Fund” and “Treet Corporation Limited - 
Group Employee Superannuation Fund” respectively. The Modaraba’s net obligation in respect of defined 
benefit plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount of future benefits that 
employees have earned in current and prior periods, discounting that amount and deducting the fair value 
of any plan assets.

The calculation of defined benefit obligation is performed annually by a qualified actuary using the projected 
unit credit method. When calculation results in a potential assets for the Modaraba, the recognized asset is 
limited to the present value of economic benefits available in the form of any future refunds from the plan 
or reduction in future contributions to the plan.

Remeasurement of net defined benefit liability, which comprise of actuarial gains and losses, the return on 
plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest) are recognized 
immediately in other comprehensive income. The Modaraba determines net interest expense/ (income) 
on the defined benefit obligation for the period by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined 
benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period to then net defined benefit, taking into account 
any change in the net defined benefit obligation during the period as a result of contributions and benefit 
payments. Net interest expense and other expenses related to defined benefit plans are recognized in 
profit and loss account.

3.17 Provisions 

Provisions are recognized when the Modaraba has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of 
past events and it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and a 
reliable estimate of the amount can be made. However, provisions are reviewed at each reporting period 
to reflect the best current estimate. If it is no longer probable that an outflow of economic resources 
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, the provisions are reversed.

3.18 Contingencies and commitments

These are not accounted for in the financial statements unless these are actual liabilities and are only 
disclosed when:

a) there is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed 
only by the occurrence or non occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within 
the control of the Modaraba; or

b) there is present obligation that arises from past events but it is not probable that an outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of 
the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

The assessment of contingencies inherently involves the exercise of significant judgment as the outcome of 
the future events cannot be predicted with certainty. The Modaraba, based on the availability of the latest 
information, estimates the value of contingent assets and liabilities which may differ on the occurrence/ 
non occurrence of the uncertain future events.
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3.19 Related party transactions

All transactions with related parties are executed at arm’s length prices, determined in accordance with 
the pricing method as approved by the BOD, except in rarely extreme circumstances, where subject to the 
approval of the BOD, it is in the interest of the Modaraba to do so. Parties are said to be related if they are 
able to influence the operating and financial decisions of the Modaraba.

3.20 Foreign currency translation

Foreign currency transactions are translated into Pak Rupees which is the Modaraba’s functional and 
presentation currency using the exchange rates approximating those prevailing at the date of the 
transaction. All monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated into Pak Rupees using 
the exchange rate at the balance sheet date. 

Exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translations 
at the year end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
recognized in profit and loss account. All non monetary assets and liabilities are translated in Pak Rupees 
using the exchange rates prevailing on the date of transaction or at the date when the fair value was 
determined. 

3.21 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 
operating decision maker. The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources 
and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the BOD of the Modaraba 
that makes strategic decisions. Segments reported are corrugated boxes, soaps and batteries which also 
reflects the management structure of the Modaraba. 

3.22 Warranty costs

The Modaraba, based on actual claims by the customers which are admitted by the Modaraba, recognizes 
the estimated costs of product warranties (which are assurance warranties) as an expense in the profit 
and loss account in accordance with IAS-37. Management establishes the amount of warranty expense 
on the basis of past trends relating to the frequency and average cost of under-warranty repairs and 
replacement.

3.23 Revenue recognition

Revenue arises mainly from the sale of corrugated boxes, soaps and batteries, and is measured according 
to IFRS-15 (Revenue from Contracts with Customers) at the fair value of the consideration received or 
receivable as defined in sales contract, including variable consideration; sales tax and other duties collected 
on behalf of third parties are not taken into account. However, variable consideration is only included if it 
is highly probable that a significant reversal of revenue will not occur once the uncertainty related to the 
variable consideration is resolved.

Revenue is recognized when control of a promised goods passes to a customer at a specific point in time. 
The customer obtains control of the goods when the goods are delivered to customers and in very few 
cases when goods are handed over to the customers i.e. ex-factory, in case of local sales. Further in case 
of export sale, control is transferred when goods are loaded on vessels.
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Contract liabilities, which is the Modaraba’s obligation to transfer goods to a customer for which the 
entity has already received consideration, relate mainly to advance payments from customers. A trade 
receivable is recognized when the products are delivered to a customer as this is the point in time that 
the consideration becomes unconditional because only a passage of time is required before the payment 
is due. 

Income from the following sources is recognized as under:

i) Return on bank deposits is accounted for on a time proportion basis using the effective rate of 
return/profit. 

ii) Other revenues are recorded on accrual basis.

3.24 Earning per Modaraba certificate (EPC)

Basic EPC is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary certificate holders of the 
Modaraba by the weighted average number of certificate outstanding during the year.

Diluted EPC is calculated by adjusting basic EPC by the weighted average number of Modaraba certificates 
that would be issued on conversion of all dilutive potential Modaraba certificates into ordinary certificates 
and post tax effect of changes in profit and loss account attributable to certificates of the Modaraba that 
would result from conversion of all dilutive potential Modaraba certificates into ordinary certificates.

4 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

2022 2021
Note (Rupees in thousand)

Operating fixed assets - tangible 4.1  8,303,376  8,600,603 
Capital work in progress 4.2  64,900  -   

 8,368,276  8,600,603 
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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2022 2021
Note (Rupees in thousand)

4.1.4 The depreciation charge for the year has been allocated as 
under:
Cost of sales

-Corrugated boxes 26  28,612  28,020 
- Soap 26  3,588  3,225 
- Battery 26  274,432  356,818 

Administration and general expenses 27  3,861  6,474 
Selling and distribution cost 28  148  160 

 310,641  394,697 

4.1.5 Had the assets not revalued, the net book value of freehold land, buildings and plant and machinery 
would have amounted to:

Freehold land  290,524  290,524 
Buildings on freehold land  2,735,512  2,810,553 
Plant and machinery  2,794,977  2,926,089 

 5,821,013  6,027,166 

4.1.6 Freehold land, buildings on freehold land and plant and machinery of corrugation , soap and battery 
projects of the Modaraba were  revalued on 30 June 2021 by Messrs. Medallion Services (Pvt.) Ltd (PBA 
approved independent valuators) resulting in fresh surplus of Rs. 2,321.168  million. Previously, freehold 
land and buildings were revalued on 30 June 2019 by Messrs. Medallion Services (Pvt.) Ltd which resulted 
in surplus of Rs. 375.315 million. In the previous year, the Modaraba had undergone the revaluation 
exercise of its plant and machinery of all the segments for the first time as approved by the BOD of the 
parent company in their meeting held on 29 June 2021 The basis used for revaluation were as follows:

Freehold land

Fair market value of freehold land was assessed through inquiries to real estate agents and property 
dealers in near vicinity of freehold land. Different valuation methods and exercises were adopted accord-
ing to experience, location and other usage of freehold land and is valued at current market value. Valuer 
had also considered all relevant factors as well.

Buildings

Construction specifications were noted for each building and structure and new construction rates are 
applied according to construction specifications for current replacement values. After determining cur-
rent replacement values, depreciation was calculated to determine the current assessed market value.

Plant and Machinery

Material, make and design specifications were noted for each component of plant and machinery and 
different machinery suppliers and consultants both in and outside the country have been contacted for 
the collection of information as regards to the valuation of plant and machinery and new rates are applied 
according to physical condition, usage, maintenance and design specifications for current replacement 
values. After determining current replacement values, depreciation was calculated to determine the cur-
rent assessed market value.
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4.2 Capital work in progress

The movement under this head of account is as follows:

Description
Opening 
balance

Additions 
during the 

year
Adjustments

Transferred 
to operating 
fixed assets

Amount 
expensed 

out

Closing 
balance

--------------(Rupees in thousand)-------------- 

Civil work  -    15,268  -    -    -    15,268 
Plant, machinery and 
equipment

 -    63,047  -    (13,415)  -    49,632 

2022 - Rs. in 000’s  -    78,315  -    (13,415)  -    64,900 

2021 - Rs. in 000’s  166,415  34,065  (21,685)  (162,612)  (16,183)  -   

2022 2021
Note (Rupees in thousand)

5 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSET 
Opening balance  62,607  78,259 
Cancellation of lease  (39,277)  -   
Modification  9,056  -   
Less: Depreciation charge for the year 5.1  (6,745)  (15,652)
Net book value as at 30 June  25,641  62,607 

Useful life / Lease term 6 years  6 years 

5.1 The depreciation charge for the year on the right-of-
use assets has been allocated as under:

Cost of sales - Soap 26  -    10,534 
Selling and distribution expense 28  6,745  5,118 

 6,745  15,652 

6 LONG TERM DEPOSITS

 Against:
Rented premises  4,685  861 
Utility deposits  8,096  6,790 
Deposit - FESCO 6.1  35,550  37,264 
Deposit - PSO  10,642  -   
Others  40  40 

 59,013  44,955 

6.1 This represents security deposit kept with Faysal Bank Limited for the issuance of guarantee in favor of 
FESCO and bears profit @ 11.2% (2021: 5.7%) per annum.
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2022 2021
Note (Rupees in thousand)

7 STORES AND SPARES

Stores 
Corrugation boxes  85,279  73,813 
Soap  5,243  7,337 
Battery  28,558  2,867 

 119,080  84,017 
Spares

Corrugation boxes  2,720  8,458 
Battery  1,224  -   

 123,024  92,475 
Less:      Provision for slow moving/obsolete stores  (5,523)  (5,523)

 117,501  86,952 

8 STOCK IN TRADE 

Raw material 8.1
Corrugation boxes  198,600  116,566 
Soap  25,782  15,792 
Battery  449,814  499,673 

 674,196  632,031 
Packing material

Corrugation boxes  1,188  1,085 
Soap  10,111  18,201 
Battery  14,982  17,807 

 26,281  37,093 
Work in process

Corrugation boxes  7,975  7,629 
Soap  -    -   
Battery  332,698  348,360 

 340,673  355,989 
Finished goods

Corrugation boxes  22,941  8,333 
Soap  28,198  26,373 
Battery 8.2  72,681  76,557 

 123,820  111,263 

 1,164,970  1,136,376 

8.1 This includes raw material in transit amounting to Rs. 25.088 million (2021: Rs. Nil).

Notes to the Financial Statements
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8.2 The stock in battery segment has been written down to net realizable value by Rs. Nil (2021: Rs. 2.434 
million) respectively, which is duly recognized in the cost of sales in accordance with the requirements of 
IAS - 2.

2022 2021
Note (Rupees in thousand)

9 SHORT TERM INVESTMENT 

Term Deposit Receipts - at amortized cost 9.1  -    60,000 

9.1 This represented the term deposit receipts, having face value of Rs. 60,000,000 as investment in MCB Is-
lamic Bank Limited with a 1 month maturity and carried a markup of 6.75% (2021: 6.75%). The investment 
was matured on 31 August 2021.

10 TRADE DEBTORS

Trade debtors - unsecured: 10.1  819,179  734,977 
Less: Impairment of trade debtors under expected credit loss 10.2  (53,654)  (32,057)

 765,525  702,920 

10.1 These include balances receivable from the following 
related parties:
Renacon Pharma Limited  789  942 
Multiple Autoparts Industries (Pvt.) Limited  5  4 
Specialized Autoparts Industries (Pvt.) Limited  5  30 
Loads Limited  74  21 
Elite Brands Limited  3,353  7,838 

 4,226  8,835 

10.1.1 The maximum aggregate of amount due from related parties at the end of any month during the year 
was as follows:

Renacon Pharma Limited  942  942 
Multiple AutoParts Industries (Pvt) Limited  5  4 
Specialized AutoParts Industries (Pvt) Limited  81  30 
Loads Limited  75  21 
Elite Brands Limited  7,838  7,838 

The ageing analysis of unimpaired and past due balances receivable from the above named related par-
ties is as follows:

Not past due 
Past due but not impaired
Past due 1 - 90 days  4,226  8,835 
Past due 90 - 180 days  -    -   
Past due 180 days  -    -   

 4,226  8,835 8,835 

Notes to the Financial Statements
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2022 2021
Note (Rupees in thousand)

10.2 The reconciliation in this head of account is as follows:
Opening balance  32,057  52,148 
Allowance for expected credit loss made during the year  24,535  -   
Provision reversed on recovery  -    (20,091)
Bad debts written off during the year  (2,938)  -   
Balance as at 30 June  53,654  32,057 

11 ADVANCES, DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Advances to:

Employees against expenses - secured, considered good 11.1  55,509  14,620 
Renacon Pharma Limited - associated undertaking 11.2  860  -   
Suppliers - unsecured, considered good - local

IGI General Insurance Limited - associated undertaking 11.3  22  2,898 
Others  91,890  48,781 

 148,281  66,299 
Trade deposits  7,451  7,451 
Other receivables - unsecured and considered good

Balance with statutory authorities 11.4  650  7,418 
Insurance claim receivable- IGI General Insurance Limited,
associated undertaking

11.5  -    6,000 

 650  13,418 
 156,382  87,168 

11.1 These advances are given to employees for routine nature expenses at site. These are recovered/ adjusted 
subsequent to the balance sheet date.

11.2 The maximum aggregate balance due from Renacon Pharma Limited  at the end of any month during the 
year was Rs. 0.860 million (2021: Nil ).

11.2.1 The aging of Renacon Pharma Limited at the reporting date is:

Not past due  -    -   
Past due 1 - 90 days  860  -   
Past due 90 - 180 days  -    -   
Past due 180 days  -    -   

 860  -   

11.3 The maximum aggregate balance due from IGI General Insurance Limited  at the end of any month during 
the year was Rs. 0.022 million (2021: 2.898 million).

Notes to the Financial Statements
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2022 2021
Note (Rupees in thousand)

11.3.1 The aging of IGI General Insurance Limited at the reporting date is:

Not past due  -    -   
Past due 1 - 90 days  22  2,898 
Past due 90 - 180 days  -    -   
Past due 180 days  -    -   

 22  2,898 

11.4 This represents amounts given to Collector of Customs which will be adjusted against the letters of credit. 
This is unsecured, interest free and adjusted subsequent to the balance sheet date.

11.5 The maximum aggregate balance due from IGI General Insurance Limited  at the end of any month during 
the year was Rs. 6.00 million (2021: Rs. 6.00 million).

11.5.1 The aging of IGI General Insurance Limited at the reporting date is:

Not past due  -    -   
Past due 1 - 90 days  -    6,000 
Past due 90 - 180 days  -    -   
Past due 180 days  -    -   

 -    6,000 

12 TAX REFUNDS DUE FROM THE GOVERNMENT

Sales tax adjustable  552,631  577,669 
Income tax refundable  132,173  149,096 

 684,804  726,765 

13 CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Cash in hand  4,597  12,543 
Cash at banks in:

Current accounts  110,873  69,887 
Saving accounts 13.1  121,566  28,770 

 232,439  98,657 
 237,036  111,200 

13.1 These carry profit rates ranging between 6% to 8.63%  (2021: 3.8% to 5.5%) per annum.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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2022 2021
Note (Rupees in thousand)

14 NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE
Piece of land classified as held for sale 14.1  -    380,275 

14.1 In previous year, the BOD of the management company of the Modaraba in their meeting held on 31 May 
2021 decided to sell a piece of land measuring 18 kanals and 11 marlas situated at Mauza Bhoo Battian, 
Tehsil Raiwind, District Lahore and accordingly a sale deed between the Modaraba and party - Chimera 
Education (Pvt.) Limited was duly executed against the sale consideration of Rs. 600 million. 

15 CERTIFICATE CAPITAL

2022 2021
(Number of Certificates)

Authorized certificate capital

 900,000,000  700,000,000 
Modaraba Certificates of Rs. 
10 each  9,000,000  7,000,000 

Issued, subscribed and paid-up certificate capital

 883,590,287  699,999,994 
Modaraba Certificates of Rs. 
10 each fully paidup in cash  8,835,903  7,000,000 

15.1 In previous year, the BOD of the management company of the Modaraba in their meeting held on 19 May 
2021 decided and approved the increase in the authorized capital of the Modaraba from Rs. 7,000 million 
to Rs. 9,000 million subject to regulatory approvals, which have been granted in current year on 08 July 
2021.

15.2 In the previous year, the BOD of the management company of the Modaraba in their meeting held on 09 
April 2021 decided and approved the conversion of loan provided by the parent company to the Modaraba 
to the extent of Rs.6,879 million (subject to regulatory approvals) into certificate capital in two trenches. 
Accordingly, 504,400,000 modararba certificates of Rs. 10 each amounting to Rs. 5,044 million were issued 
in favour of parent company against its loan on 18 May 2021 after necessary regulatory approvals. During 
the current year after necessary regulatory approvals the second trench of  1,835,903 certificates was 
issued on 16 August 2021 to the parent company from the deposit for purchase of certificates (transferred 
from loan last year). 

(Number of Certificates)

15.2.1 Reconciliation of number of certificates

Number of certificates at the beginning of the year  699,999,994  195,599,994 
Conversion of parent company loan into modaraba certificates  183,590,293  504,400,000 
Number of certificates as at 30 June  883,590,287  699,999,994 

15.2.2 As at 30 June 2022, Treet Corporation Limited, the holding company holds 97.20% (2021: 96.38%) of the 
entire capital comprising of Rs. 10 each i.e. 858,841,993 (2021: 674,670,600) certificates of the Modaraba. In 
addition 2.22% (2021: 2.79%) of the certificate capital comprising 19,590,562 (2021: 19,590,562) certificates 
of Rs. 10 each are held by the management company of the Modaraba i.e. Treet Holdings Limited.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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2022 2021
Note (Rupees in thousand)

16 DEPOSIT FOR PURCHASE OF CERTIFICATES 16.1  1  1,835,904 

16.1 In previous year, the BOD of the management company of the Modaraba in their meeting held on 19 May 
2021 decided and approved the 2nd trench  of the loan provided by the parent company to the Modaraba 
for conversion into the equity fund to the extent of Rs.1,835.903 million subject to regulatory approvals. 
During the current year after necessary regulatory approvals the second trench of  1,835,903 certificates 
was issued on 16 August 2021 to the parent company from the deposit for purchase of certificates 
(transferred from loan last year). 

17 STATUTORY RESERVES  511,941  511,941 

This represents profit set aside in compliance with the requirements of Prudential Regulations for Modaraba’s 
along with circular 11 of 2006 issued by the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan and can be utilized 
only for the purpose specified in regulation 2 of part III of the Prudential Regulations. Since the Modaraba is in loss-
es, therefore no transfer to the fund is applicable in the instant case.

18 CERTIFICATE PREMIUM  1,952,870  1,952,870 

This represents certificate premium at the rate of Rs. 30 per certificate net of transaction costs amounting to Rs. 
3.130 million, against the issuance of right modaraba certificates. This reserve can be utilized by the Modaraba only 
for the purposes specified in section 81(2) of the Companies Act, 2017.  

19 SURPLUS ON REVALUATION OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  1,212,893  1,423,472 

19.1 The reconciliation of this head of account is as follows:
Opening balance  1,423,472  407,835 
Add: Fresh surplus arose during the year  -    1,405,203 

Less: Transferred to retained earnings on account of:
Incremental depreciation - net  (65,629)  (2,117)
Revaluation surplus related to disposal of non-current 
asset held for sale

 (144,950)  -   

 1,212,893  1,810,921 
Less: Deferred tax attributable to fresh revaluation surplus  -    (387,449)

 1,212,893  1,423,472 

Surplus attributed to:
Land, buildings plant and machinery  1,212,893  1,423,472 

This reserve is not available for distribution to the certificate holders in accordance with section 241 of the 
Companies Act, 2017.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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2022 2021
Note (Rupees in thousand)

20 LEASE LIABILITY  18,962  40,126 

The movement in this head of account is as follows:
Opening Liability  54,511  70,491 
Payments made during the year  (7,114)  (19,648)
Interest on unwinding of liability against right-of-use assets 30  2,655  3,668 
Cancelation of  lease liability  (34,542)  -   
Modification of lease liability  9,056  -   
Balance as at 30 June  24,566  54,511 
Less: Current portion shown under current liabilities  (5,604)  (14,385)

 18,962  40,126 

Reconciliation of present value of future minimum lease payments under the contract and finance cost are as follows: 

Minimum lease payments 
(MLP)

Present value of MLP

2022 2021 2022 2021
(Rupees in thousand) (Rupees in thousand)

Not later than one year  7,845  20,229  5,604  14,385 
Later than one year but not later than five years  21,460  74,515  18,962  40,126 

 29,305  94,744  24,566  54,511 
Less: finance cost allocated to future periods  (4,739)  (40,233)  -    -   

 24,566  54,511  24,566  54,511 
Less: current portion shown under current liabilities  (5,604)  (14,385)  (5,604)  (14,385)

 18,962  40,126  18,962  40,126 

Notes to the Financial Statements
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2022 2021
Note (Rupees in thousand)

21 DEFERRED TAXATION
Deferred tax 21.1  314,347  386,279 

21.1 Taxable temporary differences:
Property, plant and equipment  1,093,224  1,018,605 
Right-of-use assets  312  2,348 
Deductible temporary differences:
Provision for slow moving/obsolete stores  (1,602)  (1,597)
Provision for doubtful debts  (15,560)  (9,267)
Provision for warranty  (37,032)  (46,405)
Unused tax depreciation loss  (724,995)  (577,405)

 314,347  386,279 

Deferred tax asset not recognized in the profit and loss account  -    -   
Deferred tax liability as at June 30, recognized in the balance sheet  314,347  386,279 

Less:

Opening deffered tax liability  (386,279)  (9,272)
Deferred tax liability attributable to other comprehensive income  -    (387,449)

 (386,279)  (396,721)
Deferred tax income recognized in the profit and loss account 32  (71,932)  (10,442)

21.2 The deferred tax assets on unused business tax losses and tax credits have not been recognized in 
these financial statements in view of uncertanity regarding avaliability of the taxable profits / taxable 
differences in the foreseeable future.

22 SHORT TERM BORROWINGS - UNSECURED

From banking companies - secured and profit bearing 
Running finances - Islamic mode of financing 22.1  2,941,492  4,085,013 

From related parties - unsecured
Treet Corporation Limited - holding company 22.2  2,560,990  1,127,424 
Treet Holdings Limited - management company  66,621  29,676 

 5,569,103  5,242,113 

22.1 Running finances - Islamic mode of financing

These represent Istisna, Murabaha and Karobar Finance facilities obtained from various financial 
institutions under shariah compliant arrangements to meet working capital requirements, for 
procurement of raw materials, stocks, chemicals, stores, tools and spare parts and the manufacturing of 
corrugated boxes, soaps and batteries out of the total sanctioned limits of Rs. 3,854.50 million (2021:  Rs. 
4,257.50 million).

Notes to the Financial Statements
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All the short term borrowings from the various financial institutions as disclosed carry profit rates ranging 
from 3 to 9 Month KIBOR + 0.75% to 2.5% (2021: 3 to 9 Month KIBOR + 0.75% to 2.5%) per annum, payable 
quarterly. Further, these are secured against the 1st/ Joint Pari Passu charge over all present and 
future current assets, plant and machinery of the Modaraba (including 25% safety margin) and corporate 
guarantee of Treet Corporation Limited. The limits will expire on various dates by 31 March 2023 but are 
renewable.

22.2 Treet Corporation Limited - holding company

This represents loan obtained from the above named related party towards the development project cost 
of the Battery project and working capital requirements of the Modaraba. It is unsecured, carries profit 
at the weighted average cost of capital of the parent company and was stated to be payable on demand, 
particularly when the project will have profitable operations and generate sufficient cash flows. 

2022 2021
Note (Rupees in thousand)

23 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

Creditors
Foreign  178  1,035 
Local 23.1  624,115  834,212 

 624,293  835,247 

Accrued liabilities  152,045  77,804 
Provision for warranty  127,696  160,532 
Withholding sales tax payable  3,493  1,471 
Temporary book overdraft - unsecured 23.2  83,235  38,626 
Contract liabilities 23.3  82,380  53,434 
Income tax deducted at source payable  11,325  9,038 
Unclaimed dividend  34  34 
Advance against non-current assets held for sale 14  -    60,000 
Payable to charity 23.4  4,606  -   
Other payables  1,060  582 

 1,090,167  1,236,768 

23.1 These include balances payable to the following related parties:

Elite Brands Limited  -    61 

23.2 This represents unpresented cheques at the terminal date, which have been cleared subsequent to the 
balance sheet date.

23.3 These represent advances received from customers against the onward sale of goods by the Modaraba.

These include balances payable to the following related parties:

Elite Brands Limited  3,352 -

23.4 This represents amount payable to charitable organisations registered under Pakistan Law as charitable 
organisation under Rule V of Shariah Compliance and Shahriah Audit Mechanism (SCSAM)  for Mudarbas 
as per circular no. 8 of 2012 on SCSAM for Modarbas. 

Notes to the Financial Statements
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24 CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

24.1 Contingencies

24.1.1 For the tax years 2011 and 2012, the Deputy Commissioner Inland Revenue (DCIR) passed orders under 
sections 161 and 205 of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001 creating tax demands of Rs. 1.520 million and 
Rs. 41.364 million respectively. The Modaraba filed appeals against the orders passed by DCIR before 
Commissioner Inland Revenue CIR (Appeals - II) who decided the matters in favor of the Modaraba by 
deleting the tax demands. Tax department filed appeals since 07-04-2014 and 15-04-2014 against 
the decision of CIR (Appeals - II) before Appellate Tribunal Inland Revenue (ATIR) which are pending 
adjudication. The management and tax advisor of the Modaraba are of the view that favorable outcome 
is expected in the instant case as the Modaraba is fully compliant of withholding tax provisions.

24.1.2 For the tax year 2017, the Inland Revenue Officer (IRO), E & C Unit-VII, Range-II, Zone-VI, CRTO, Lahore, 
passed orders under sections 161 and 205 of the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001 and arbitrarily created a 
tax demand of Rs. 1.807 million. The Modaraba filed appeals since 19-04-2018 against the order passed 
by IRO before Commissioner Inland Revenue (CIR) Appeals, Zone-II, Lahore which is pending adjudication. 
The management and tax advisor of the Modaraba are of the view that favorable outcome is expected in 
the instant case as the Modaraba is fully compliant of withholding tax provisions.

24.1.3 For the tax period April 2016 to July 2017, the Assistant Commissioner Inland Revenue (ACIR), E & C Unit 
- 07, Zone-VI, CRTO, Lahore passed order under section 25 of the Sales Tax Act, 1990 creating a sales tax 
demand of Rs. 26.067 million along with penalty of Rs. 1.303 million mainly on the issue of inadmissibility 
of input sales tax and adjustment thereof against illegal claim. The Modaraba filed appeals since 28-
07-2020 against the order passed by ACIR before Commissioner Inland Revenue CIR (Appeals), Zone-I, 
Lahore which is pending adjudication. The management and tax advisor of the Modaraba are of the 
view that the tax demand will be deleted by appellate authorities based a decision in favor of Registered 
Person (RP) on this issue by the Lahore High Court, Lahore.   

24.1.4 For the tax period July 2011 to June 2013 a sale tax demand of Rs. 9,526,018 along with default surcharge 
of Rs. 35,463 and penalty amounting to Rs. 508,485 was created by ACIR, Audit Unit-03, Zone-VI, CRTO, 
Lahore after conducting audit u/s 25 of the Sales Tax Act, 1990 mainly on the issue of inadmissibility of 
input sales tax. Against this order, the Modaraba filed appeal before the Commissioner Inland Revenue 
(Appeals), Zone-II, Lahore and the learned CIR-Appeals has decided the case in favor of the Modaraba. 
Against this order, the department went into an appeal before ATIR, pending adjudication until the year 
end.

24.1.5 For the tax period July 2017 to June 2018 a sale tax demand of Rs. 14,753,014 along with penalty of Rs. 
855,726 (aggregating to Rs. 15,608,740) was created by Deputy Commissioner Inland Revenue, Unit-08, 
Audit-01, LTO, Lahore after conducting audit u/s 25 of the Sales Tax Act, 1990 mainly on the issue of 
inadmissible claim of input tax Rs. 13,574,483, non-compliance of 73 etc. Against this order the Modaraba 
filed appeal before the CIR (Appeals), Zone-1, Lahore on 26-05-2022 and the appeal was heard on 01-08-
2022 but decision awaited. As per the opinion of legal advisor of the Modaraba, a favourable outcome is 
expected. 

2022 2021
(Rupees in thousand)

24.2 Commitments

24.2.1 Guarantees  16,049  67,245 

24.2.2 Letters of credit
Outstanding letters of credit  71,328  98,990 
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Corrugated Boxes Soaps Battery Total
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

 ------------------------------(Rupees in thousand) ------------------------------

25 REVENUE - NET
External customers
Local  2,440,773  1,893,751  590,169  897,646  5,997,743  4,942,897  9,028,685  7,734,294 
Export  -    -    -    -    -    19,741  -    19,741 
Treet Corporation Limited - 
Associated undertaking  48,950  26,987  -    -    -    -    48,950  26,987 
Renacon Pharma Limited - 
Associated undertaking  30,127  20,329  -    -    -    -    30,127  20,329 

 2,519,850  1,941,067  590,169  897,646  5,997,743  4,962,638  9,107,762  7,801,351 

Inter segment sales  2,833  12,632  -    -    -    -    2,833  12,632 
Sale of scrap (waste paper 
and lead)  179,461  121,226  -    -    156,184  135,524  335,645  256,750 

 2,702,144  2,074,925  590,169  897,646  6,153,927  5,098,162  9,446,240  8,070,733 
Less:
Sales tax  (392,340)  (272,857)  (100,017)  (150,921)  (1,017,756)  (718,113)  (1,510,113)  (1,141,891)
Trade discount  (242)  (1,789)  (392)  (1,363)  (254,299)  (818,195)  (254,933)  (821,347)

 (392,582)  (274,646)  (100,409)  (152,284)  (1,272,055)  (1,536,308)  (1,765,046)  (1,963,238)
Elimination of Inter segment 
sales  (2,833)  (12,632)  -    -    -    -    (2,833)  (12,632)

 2,306,729  1,787,647  489,760  745,362  4,881,872  3,561,854  7,678,361  6,094,863 

26 COST OF SALES
Opening stock- raw and 
packing material

 117,651  91,662  33,993  35,665  517,480  514,329  669,124  641,656 

Add: Purchases

Inter-segment  -    -    2,833  12,632  -    -    2,833  12,632 
Others  1,812,193  1,325,021  405,776  628,515  3,544,954  2,523,927  5,762,923  4,477,463 

 1,812,193  1,325,021  408,609  641,147  3,544,954  2,523,927  5,765,756  4,490,095 
Less: Closing stock  (199,788)  (117,651)  (35,893)  (33,993)  (464,796)  (517,480)  (700,477)  (669,124)
Elimination of Inter segment 
purchases  -    -    (2,833)  (12,632)  -    -    (2,833)  (12,632)
Raw and packing material 
consumed  1,730,056  1,299,032  403,876  630,187  3,597,638  2,520,776  5,731,570  4,449,995 

Stores and spares consumed  37,680  60,170  3,396  4,229  10,380  37,532  51,456  101,931 
Out sourcing of manpower  193,905  160,225  24,769  43,947  304,195  294,544  522,869  498,716 
Fuel and power  115,156  85,957  15,875  11,243  335,482  255,524  466,513  352,724 
Freight and forwarding  68,855  71,766  8,065  12,608  89,869  66,029  166,788  150,403 
Depreciation on operating 
fixed assets

 28,612  28,020  3,588  3,225  274,432  356,818  306,633  388,063 

Depreciation on ROU asset  -    -    -    10,534  -    -    -    10,534 
Repair and maintenance  28,164  31,144  1,051  515  35,636  21,011  64,851  52,670 
Traveling and conveyance  3,967  2,803  579  488  10,851  10,327  15,396  13,618 
Insurance  3,784  2,860  401  715  24,004  20,478  28,189  24,053 
Rent, rates and taxes  766  725  -    -    872  1,238  1,638  1,963 
Other manufacturing 
expenses  7,299  7,890  3,876  4,374  23,805  20,408  34,981  32,672 

 2,218,244  1,750,592  465,476  722,065  4,707,164  3,604,685  7,390,884  6,077,342 
Work in process
Add: Opening stock  7,629  10,596  -    223  348,360  418,361  355,989  429,180 
Less: Closing stock  (7,975)  (7,629)  -    -    (332,698)  (348,360)  (340,673)  (355,989)
Cost of goods manufactured  2,217,898  1,753,559  465,476  722,288  4,722,826  3,674,686  7,406,200  6,150,533 
Finished goods
Add: Opening stock  8,333  23,615  26,373  23,613  76,557  98,509  111,263  145,737 
Less: Closing stock  (22,941)  (8,333)  (28,198)  (26,373)  (72,681)  (76,557)  (123,821)  (111,263)

 2,203,290  1,768,841  463,651  719,528  4,726,702  3,696,638  7,393,642  6,185,007 

26.1 Outsourcing of manpower include Rs. 5.977 million (2021: Rs. 6.049 million) for corrugation boxes segment, Rs. 0.855 million (2021: Rs.  1.676 
million) for soap segment and Rs. 4.201 million (2021: Rs. 3.590 million) for battery segment in respect of contribution to staff retirement benefit 
plans.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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2022 2021
Note (Rupees in thousand)

27 Administration and general expenses

Out sourcing of manpower 27.1  25,062  23,916 
Auditors' remuneration 27.2  1,458  16,934 
Legal and professional  31,986  68,871 
Vehicle running and maintenance
Printing and stationery  771  515 
Travelling and conveyance  2,965  1,645 
Postage and telephone  250  276 
Depreciation on operating fixed assets 4.1.4  3,861  6,474 
Intercompany Sale/Purchase - Services
Others  11,943  5,105 

 78,296  123,736 

27.1 Outsourcing of manpower include Rs. 0.851 million (2021: Rs. 0.629 million) for corrugation segment, Rs. 
0.169 million (2021: Rs. 0.124 million) for soap segment and Rs. 0.103 million (2021: 0.03 million) for battery 
segment in respect of contribution to staff retirement benefit plans.

27.2 Auditors’ remuneration

Audit fee  1,000  825 
Half year review  300  275 
Tax services  -    15,834 
Other Services  158  -   

 1,458  16,934 

28 SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

Outsourcing of manpower 28.1  84,703  84,244 
Fuel and power  411  175 
Rent, rates and taxes  1,946  911 
Repair and maintenance  2,367  2,610 
Advertisement  6,931  10,777 
Travelling and conveyance  15,917  12,691 
Postage and telephone  959  1,295 
Printing and stationery  228  166 
Royalty  52,692  31,843 
Warranty claims and provisions  235,152  289,709 
Depreciation on operating fixed assets  148  160 
Depreciation on ROU asset 5.1  6,745  5,118 
Others  13,429  8,429 

 421,628  448,128 
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28.1 Outsourcing of manpower include Rs. 1.153 million (2021: Rs. 0.762 million) for corrugation segment and 
Rs. 0.934 million (2021: Rs. 0.378 million) for battery segment in respect of contribution to staff retirement 
benefit plans.

2022 2021
Note  (Rupees in thousand) 

29 OTHER EXPENSES

Loss on disposal of operating fixed assets  -    82 
Intercompany Rental Income/(Expense)  4,240  22,586 
Impairment of other receivables - Loads Limited, related party  -    7,520 
Provision for doubtful debts 10.2  24,534  -   
Exchange loss  17,342  -   
Other  18,352  -   

 64,468  30,188 

30 FINANCE COST

Financial charges on:

Borrowings from financial institutions  393,239  347,263 
Borrowings from related parties
Treet Corporation Limited - parent company  73,630  433,289 
Treet Holding Limited - management company  3,736  668 
Lease liability 20  2,655  3,668 
Bank charges  7,132  5,104 

 480,392  789,992 

31 OTHER INCOME

Income from financial assets

Profit on bank and other deposits 31.1  10,732  6,980 
Reversal of impairment under expected credit loss  -    20,091 

 10,732  27,071 
Income from non financial assets

Sale of scrap  3,363  1,271 
Rebate  1,351  -   
Exchange gain  -    2,143 
Gain on sale of fixed asset  201,776  -   
Fair value gain on operating fixed assets 31.2  -    915,965 
Others  24,034  -   

 230,524  919,379 
 241,256  946,450 

Notes to the Financial Statements
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31.1 These profits are earned on accounts and deposits maintained under Shariah permissible arrangement. 
These include profit amounting to Rs. 2,076,441 (2021: Rs. 2,012,500) on the deposit kept with Faysal Bank 
Limited in favor of FESCO.

31.2 This represented the gain on revaluation of buildings of the battery project through the profit and loss ac-
count against which an impairment loss was incorporated on its revaluation in the financial year 2019.

2022 2021
Note  (Rupees in thousand) 

32 TAXATION

Current
Normal tax 32.1  -    -   
Minimum Tax  95,980  91,973 
Presumptive tax  -    201 
Prior year  (1,119)  -   

Deferred  94,861  92,174 
For the year 21  (71,932)  (10,442)

 22,929  81,732 

32.1 Due to loss for the year, no provision for income tax under the normal tax regime or alternate corporate tax is 
required in the instant case. However, the provision of minimum tax chargable under section 113 of Income 
Tax Ordinance, 2001 is now applicable to the Modaraba from the tax year 2021 and onwards, as provided 
by Clause - 11A (XIII) of part IV of the Second Schedule to the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001 and accordingly 
adequate provision for taxation under this section has been accounted for in these financial statements. 
The export proceeds are subject to tax under Final Tax Regime in accordance with section 154 of the Income 
Tax Ordinance, 2001.

Accordingly, the reconciliation of tax expenses and product of accounting profit multiplied by the applicable 
tax rate is also not applicable.

33 Loss per Modaraba certificate - basic and diluted

Loss after taxation Rupees in thousand  (541,738)  (617,470)

Weighted average number of certificates Number in thousand  859,950  255,022 

Earning per certificate : (Rupees)  (0.63)  (2.42)

There is no dilutive effect on the basic loss per modaraba certificate as the Modaraba has no potentially issuable 
certificates or such commitments at the reporting date.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022
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35 Financial instruments

The Modaraba has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

- Credit risk
- Liquidity risk
- Market risk

The BOD of the Modaraba management company has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight 
of Modaraba’s risk management framework. The BOD is also responsible for developing and monitoring the 
Modaraba’s risk management policies. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect 
changes in market conditions and the Modaraba’s activities.

This note presents information about the Modaraba’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Modaraba’s 
objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Modaraba’s management of capital.

All derivative activities for risk management purposes are carried out by specialist teams that have the appropriate 
skills, experience and supervision. The Modaraba does not engage in the trading of financial assets for speculative 
purposes nor does it write options. 

The Modaraba’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the risks faced by the Modaraba, 
to set appropriate risk limits and controls, to monitor risks and adherence to limits and focuses on actively securing 
its short to medium term cash flows by minimizing the exposure to financial markets. The Modaraba through 
its training and management standards and procedures aims to maintain a disciplined and constructive control 
environment in which employees understand their roles and responsibilities.

The Audit Committee of the Modaraba management company oversees how management monitors compliance 
with the Modaraba’s risk management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management 
framework in relation to the risks faced by the Modaraba. The Audit Committee is assisted in its oversight role 
by Internal Audit. Internal Audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and 
procedures, the results of which are reported to the Audit Committee.

The Management shall conduct financial risk assessments regularly so as to identify exposures, set priorities 
and quantify how the same, affect the business objectives, such as, profitability and shareholder value. These 
assessments shall cover all the aspects of corporate structure starting at the apex levels of management and 
working through all the functional levels. Head of Internal Auditor (IA) shall report to the Audit Committee of the 
Board on a regular basis, his assessment of the exposures of the entities to various risks, and checks and controls 
established by the management.

The overall financial risk management programme and specific internal control procedures focus on the mitigation 
of risks identified above due to business inherent limitations, volatile financial markets and changing circumstances 
of the economic situation locally and internationally that effect the business directly or indirectly.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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a) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Modaraba if a customer or a counterparty to a financial 
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. To manage credit risk the Modaraba maintains 
procedures covering the application for credit approvals, granting and renewal of counterparty limits 
and monitoring of exposures against these limits. As part of these processes the financial viability of all 
counterparties is regularly monitored and assessed. The credit risk arises principally from the Modaraba’s 
receivables from customers, refundable deposits and advances, other receivables and bank balances. Out 
of the total financial assets of Rs. 1,069.024 million (2021: Rs. 932.526 million) financial assets which are 
subject to credit risk amounted to Rs. 1,062.428 million (2021: Rs. 919.983 million).

The Modaraba has a policy of cash sales or for very limited credit period in case of batteries and cor-
rugation segments. The export sales are made against advance payments, export LC, or cash against 
documents. Therefore, the Modaraba’s exposure to credit risk is minimum. Timely realization of sale pro-
ceeds under the credit period are critical for cash flow management, reduced level of borrowing, efficient 
utilization of funds and, meeting financial obligations on a timely basis. Wherever the entity allows credit 
to its customer, the credit period will be determined on the basis of customer credit history, sales volume, 
customer financial standing, sponsors profile. All resources should be realized within the stipulated credit 
period. In case of any delays or default, it must be reported through aging report, and the concerned entity 
head shall be responsible for the realization of funds.

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure before any credit 
enhancements. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is:

2022 2021
Note (Rupees in thousand)

FINANCIAL ASSETS
Long term deposits 6  59,013  44,955 
Short term investment 9  -    60,000 
Trade debtors 10  765,525  702,920 
Advances, deposits and other receivables 11  7,451  13,451 
Bank balances 13  232,439  98,657 

 1,064,428  919,983 

Credit quality of financial assets is assessed by reference to external credit ratings, where available, or to 
historical information about counterparty default rates. Banks and financial institutions have external 
credit ratings determined by various credit rating agencies. Credit quality of customers and other 
receivables are assessed by reference to historical default rates and present aging. 

Customers are counterparties to local trade debts against sale of corrugated boxes, soaps and batteries. 
New customer is analyzed individually for creditworthiness before the Modaraba’s standard payment 
and delivery terms and conditions are offered. Sales limits are established for each customer based on 
internal rating criteria and reviewed regularly. Any sales exceeding these limits require special approval. 
Outstanding customer receivables are regularly monitored. The analysis of ages of trade debts of the 
Modaraba as at the reporting date is as follows:

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Rating  Rating 2022 2021
Banks Short term  Long term Agency (Rupees in thousand)
MCB Bank Limited A-1+ AAA PACRA  16,779  10,018 
United Bank Limited A-1+ AAA JCR-VIS  10,156  1,360 
Bank Islami Pakistan 
Limited A-1 A+ PACRA  680  762 
National Bank of Pakistan A-1+ AAA JCR-VIS  10,688  2,338 
Habib Bank Limited A-1+ AAA JCR-VIS  101,429  11,007 
Bank Alfalah Limited A-1+ AA+ PACRA  2,363  2,220 
Al Baraka Bank Limited A-1 A+ JCR-VIS  1,818  1,050 
Faysal Bank Limited A-1+ AA PACRA  981  28 
Dubai Islamic Bank Limited A-1+ AA JCR-VIS  30,502  190 
Soneri Bank Limited A-1+ AA- PACRA  7,003  6,622 
JS Bank Limited A-1+ AA- PACRA  25  25 
Askari Bank Limited A-1+ AA+ PACRA  468  787 
Meezan Bank Limited AA+ AAA JCR-VIS  36,855  32,164 
Bank Al Habib Limited A-1+ AAA PACRA  491  -   
Allied Bank Limited A-1+ AAA PACRA  9,634  8,674 
Habib Metropolitan Bank 
Limited A-1+ AA+ PACRA  2,007  16,086 
MCB Islamic Bank Limited A-1 A PACRA  560  5,327 

 232,439  98,658 

2022 2021
Note (Rupees in thousand)

Not past due  589,631  472,569 
Past due but not impaired
Less than 30 days  87,957  133,215 
Past due 1 - 3 months  17,723  45,213 
Past due 3 - 6 months  15,826  18,424 
Past due 6 - 12 months  4,965  11,679 
Above one year  49,423  21,820 

 765,525  702,920 

Management believes that the unimpaired amounts that are past due more than 30 days are still 
collectable in full based on historical payment behavior and extensive analysis of customer credit risk. 
Credit risk in case of customers is largely mitigated by the fact that majority of the sales of the Modaraba 
are on cash basis or on credit to corporate parties with reasonable financial standing and limited credit 
period. The Modaraba has also established dealerships and retail networks with strong relationship with 
customers. The Modaraba does not expect non performance by its customers. Hence, the credit risk in 
case of customers is minimal.

The external credit ratings determined by various credit rating agencies are as follows.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022
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Exposure to credit risk

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counter parties are banks with reasonably high 
credit ratings. Due to the Modaraba’s long standing business relationships with these counterparties 
and after giving due consideration to their strong financial standing, management does not expect non 
performance by these counter parties on their obligations to the Modaraba. Accordingly, the credit risk is 
minimal.

Any new relationship with a bank/ financial institution will be entered into with the prior approval of the 
BOD. Such relationships include, but are not limited to, obtaining any banking facilities and entering into 
any modes of financing through banks or financial institutions. The Modaraba’s Chief Financial Officer 
(CFO) where applicable, will approve quotes for each piece of new business on a stand alone basis from all 
the banks/ financial institutions on the Company’s panel so as to ensure the competitiveness of business 
being carried out with the selected bank(s)/ financial institution(s).

Corporate information and relationship with banks.

The Modaraba has relationship with both islamic and conventional banks. Profits earned through 
conventional banks are recognized as liability to approved charitable organizations according to shariah 
rules.

35.1 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Modaraba will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall 
due. The Modaraba’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always 
have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions. For 
this purpose, the Modaraba maintains a statutory reserve out of profits each year and has effective cash 
management and planning policy to ensure availability of funds and to take appropriate measures for 
new requirements. Management closely monitors the Modaraba’s liquidity and cash flow position. This 
includes maintenance of balance sheet liquidity ratios, debtors and creditors concentration both in terms 
of the overall funding mix and avoidance of undue reliance on large individual customers. 

The BOD has built an appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of the 
Modaraba’s short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity management requirements. The Modaraba 
manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities, 
by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial 
assets and liabilities. 

The table below summarizes the maturity profiles of Modaraba’s financial liabilities as on 30 June 2022 
based on contractual undiscounted payments date and present market interest rates:

2022

Carrying 
Amount

Contrac-
tual cash 

flows

Six Months
or less

   Six to twelve  
years 

 More than 
one years 

(Rupees in thousand)

Lease liability  24,566  24,566  2,802  2,802  18,962 
Retention money payable  11,590  11,590  -    11,590  -   
Trade and other payables  865,274  865,274  776,338  88,936  -   
Short term borrowings  5,569,103  5,569,103  -    5,569,103  -   
Accrued profit on borrowings  101,734  101,734  101,734  -    -   

 6,572,267  6,572,267  880,874  5,672,431  18,962 

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022
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2021

Carrying 
Amount

Contrac-
tual cash 

flows

Six Months
or less

   Six to twelve  
years 

 More than 
one years 

(Rupees in thousand)

Retention money payable  12,953  12,953  -    12,953  -   
Trade and other payables  1,000,812  1,000,812  77,804  923,008  -   
Short term borrowings  5,193,594  5,193,594  -    5,193,594  -   
Accrued profit on borrowings  61,623  61,623  61,623  -    -   

 6,268,982  6,268,982  139,427  6,129,555  -   

35.2 Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices will affect the Modaraba’s income or the value of its 
holdings of financial instruments. The objective of the Modaraba’s market risk management is to manage 
and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return on risk.

35.2.1 Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of the change in foreign exchange risk. The Modaraba is exposed to currency risk to the extent 
that there is a mismatch between the currencies in which receivables and purchases are denominated 
and the respective functional currency of the Modaraba i.e. Pakistan Rupee. The Modaraba is exposed 
to currency risk on import of raw materials and stores and spares mainly denominated in US dollars. 
Receivables and payables exposed to foreign currency are not covered through any forward foreign 
exchange contracts or through hedging. The Modaraba’s exposure to foreign currency risk for US Dollars 
is as follows:

2022 2021
($ in thousand)

Creditors in foreign currency  1  7 

The following significant exchange rate has been applied:

 Average rate  Reporting date rate 
2022 2021 2022 2021

USD to PKR 182.03 163.145 206.52 157.54

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for foreign currency instruments

At 30 June 2022, if the Rupee had (weakened)/ strengthened by 5% against the US dollar with all other 
variables held constant, loss for the year would have been (higher)/ lower by Rs. 0.0089 million (2021: Rs. 
0.052 million), mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains/ losses on translation of US dollar denominated 
trade payables.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022
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35.2.2 Profit rate risk

Profit rate risk is the risk that fair values or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in profit rates. The Modaraba’s exposure to the profit rate risk arises from the borrowing it 
has obtained from various banks/ financial institutions at variable rates and any contractual obligation 
that carries any penal or mark up clauses on delayed payments. The profit rate risk is mitigated through 
managing borrowing at optimal levels that are essential to run the business. Short term borrowings shall 
be done to match the timing differences between fund receipt and disbursements. Any penal clauses or 
mark up on delayed payments shall be negotiated with the vendor at the time of placement of orders. 
Chief Financial Officer (CFO) of the Modaraba shall be responsible to ensure that profit rate from banks/ 
financial institutions is market based that commensurate with the financial standing of the Modaraba. 
CFO shall also ensure that all contracts/ purchase orders are well negotiated to reduce the exposure. 
Sensitivity to profit rate risk arises from mismatch of financial assets and financial liabilities that mature 
or reprice in a given period. The Modaraba manages these mismatches through risk management 
strategies where significant changes in gap position can be adjusted. The short term borrowing and cash 
at bank kept in saving accounts by the Modaraba has variable rate pricing that is mostly dependent on 
Karachi Inter Bank Offer Rate (“KIBOR”) as indicated in respective notes.

The Modaraba’s profit bearing financial instruments as at the reporting date are as follows:

2022 2021
 (Rupees in thousand) 

Variable pricing rate financial assets
Deposit - FESCO  35,550  37,264 
Term Deposit Receipts - at amortized cost  -    60,000 
Bank balances at PLS accounts  121,566  28,770 

 157,116  126,034 

Variable pricing rate financial liabilities
Short term borrowings  5,569,103  5,242,113 

The effective profit rates for profit bearing financial instruments are mentioned in the relevant notes to 
these financial statements.

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

Senstivity analysis for variable rate assets
If profit rates at the year end date, fluctuates by 1% higher/ lower with all other variables held constant, 
loss after taxation would have been decreased/ (increased) by Rs. 3.232 million (2021: Rs. 1.260 million). 
This analysis is prepared without taking in account taxation effect and applying +/-1% discount factor on 
cash at banks in saving accounts reported in these financial statements.

Senstivity analysis for variable rate liabilities
If profit rates at the year end date, fluctuates by 1% higher / lower with all other variables held constant, 
loss after taxation would have been (increased) / decreased by Rs. 55.691 million (2021: Rs. 52.421 million). 
This analysis is prepared without taking in account taxation effect and applying +/-1% discount factor on 
short term borrowings reported in these financial statements.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022



74 FIRST TREET MANUFACTURING MODARABA

35.2.3 Other price risk

Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), 
whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, 
or factors affecting all similar financial instruments trading in market.

Exposure to price risk

The Modaraba is not exposed to any price risk as there are no financial instruments at the reporting date 
that are sensitive to price fluctuations.

2022 2021
 (Rupees in thousand) 
Loans and receivables

35.3 Financial instruments by category

Financial assets as per balance sheet
At amortized cost

Long term deposits  59,013  44,955 
Term Deposit Receipts - at amortized cost  -    60,000 
Trade debtors  765,525  702,920 
Advances and other receivables  7,451  13,451 
Cash and bank balances  237,036  111,200 

 1,069,025  932,526 

Financial liabilities as per balance sheet
At amortized cost
Lease liability  24,566  54,511 
Retention money  11,590  12,953 
Trade and other payables  865,274  1,000,812 
Accrued profit on secured borrowings  101,734  61,623 
Short term borrowings  5,569,103  5,193,594 

 6,572,267  6,323,493 

35.4 Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with 
the Modaraba’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other 
than credit, market and liquidity risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and 
generally accepted standards of corporate behavior. Operational risks arise from all of the Modaraba’s 
operations. 

The Modaraba’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses 
and damage to the Modaraba’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures 
that restrict initiative and creativity.

The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address operational 
risk is assigned to senior management within the Modaraba. This responsibility is supported by the 
development of overall Modaraba standards for the management of operational risk in the following 
areas:

Notes to the Financial Statements
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- requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent authorization 
of transactions;

- requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions;
- compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements;
- documentation of controls and procedures;
- requirements for the periodic assessment of operational risks faced, and the adequacy of 

controls and procedures to address the risks identified;
- requirements for the reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial action;
- development of contingency plans ;
- training and professional development;
- ethical and business standards; and
- risk mitigation, including insurance where this is effective.

35.5 Investment risk

All capital nature investments and disposals shall only be approved by the BOD and shareholders of the 
Group.
 
The Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Chief Financial Officer (CFO) shall formulate the proposal for any new 
investment, clearly indicating future benefits associated with the investment in term of returns, using 
Capital expenditure techniques - discounted cash flows (DCF), Discounted Dividend Model (DDM) and/ or 
Capital Asset Pricing Model (CAPM). The investment proposal should also indicate the source of funding 
and its terms and conditions. 

Investments of the surplus funds will be made after the approval from Group CFO in banks/ financial 
institutions and Asset Management Companies (AMC). Investment decisions will be made based on the 
highest rate of return offered by any bank or AMC. It would normally be the highest bidder, but can be any 
other bank/ financial institution as deemed fit by the CFO with the concurrence of the CEO/ ED.

Placement and investments will made on the basis of forecasted cash flows and surplus funds available 
with the Modaraba. In order to mitigate the level of exposure with any one bank/ financial institution, the 
funds will not be placed for more than three (3) months and not more than Rs. 350 million.

The Modaraba’s funds will not be invested in speculative business, i.e. investment will be only in banks/ 
financial institutions and AMC where a guaranteed fixed return is identified.

35.6 Regulatory risk

The Modaraba is exposed to regulatory risk when it raises capital through the capital market, issuance of 
Sukuk, and right shares, private and equity placement, etc. The Modaraba shall seek prior approval from 
the BOD and/ or shareholders of its management company as per the requirement and seek all relevant 
regulatory authorities approvals, in respect of any proposed financing. All borrowing arrangements 
entered into by the Modaraba shall be compliant with the relevant regulatory requirements.

35.7 Fair value measurement of financial instruments

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
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The Modaraba’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the entity’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for certificate holders and benefits for other 
stakeholders, and to provide an adequate return to certificate holders.

The Modaraba manages the capital structure in the context of economic conditions and the risk 
characteristics of the underlying assets.  In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Modaraba 
may, for example, adjust the amount of dividends paid to certificate-holders, issue new certificates, or sell 
assets to reduce debt. 

Underlying the definition of fair value is the presumption that the Modaraba is a going concern and there 
is no intention or requirement to curtail materially the scale of its operations or to undertake a transaction 
on adverse terms.

A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily and regularly 
available from an exchange dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those 
prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.

IFRS 13 ‘Fair Value Measurement’ requires the Modaraba to classify fair value measurements and fair 
value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements of fair value 
hierarchy has the following levels:

- Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1)
- Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset either 

directly (that is, derived from prices) (Level 2)
- Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unadjusted) 

inputs (Level 3)

Transfer between levels of the fair value hierarchy are recognized at the end of the reporting period during 
which the changes have occurred. However, no transfers between levels of fair value during the year have 
occurred.

The carrying value of all financial assets and liabilities reflected in the financial statements approximate 
their fair values. As all the financial assets and financial liabilities are carried at cost, therefore, no fair 
value hierarchy levels have been disclosed in these financial statements being not applicable in the 
instant case.

Land, buildings and plant and machinery are carried at revaluation model and the fair values have been 
determined using the valuation methods/ techniques as disclosed in note 4.1.5. The fair value hierarchy 
is Level 2 for these non-financial assets.

35.8 Capital management

The Board’s policy is to maintain an efficient capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market 
confidence and to sustain the future development of its business. The Board monitors the return on 
capital employed, which the Modaraba defines as operating income divided by total capital employed. 

Notes to the Financial Statements
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36 RELATED PARTIES DISCLOSURES

A. Related party relationships
The related parties comprise ultimate parent company, parent company, subsidiaries, associated undertakings, 
directors of management company of the Modaraba, key management personnel and post employment benefit 
plans. The Modaraba in the normal course of business carries out transactions with various related parties which 
comprise of the following:

2022 2021
(Rupees in thousand)

The gearing ratios as at June 30, 2022 are as follows:

Total debt - short term borrowings  5,569,103  5,242,113 
Total equity  4,371,661  4,913,400 
Gearing ratio 127% 107%

Neither there were any changes in the Modaraba’s approach to capital management during the year nor 
the Modaraba is subject to externally imposed capital requirements, except those related to compliance 
of debt covenants including maintenance of adequate current and liquidity ratios for which the Modaraba 
has been granted relaxation from various institutions.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022

Name of Related party	 Nature of 
relationship

Basis of
relationship

Percentage of
shareholding

Treet Corporation Limited Holding Company	 Shareholding and 
common directorship

97.20%

Treet Holdings Limited Management
Company

Shareholding and 
common directorship

2.22%

Packages Limited

Associated
undertaking

Common
Directorship

NIL

Treet HR Management (Private) Limited
Cutting Edge (Private) Limited 
Liaquat National Hospital 
Gulab Devi Chest Hospital
Ali Automobile (Private) Limited
Loads Limited 
Hi-Tech Alloy Wheels Limited
Global Arts Limited
Treet Power Limited
Treet Battery Limited
Multiple Autoparts Industries (Pvt) 
Limited
Specialized Autoparts Industries (Pvt) 
Limited
Specialized Motorcycle (Pvt) Limited
Elite Brands Limited
IGI General Insurance Limited
PSV (Private) Limited
Renacon Pharma Limited
Global Assets (Private) Limited
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B. Related party transactions
Amounts due from/ to related parties are disclosed in respective notes to these financial statements. Other 
significant transactions with related parties are as follows:

Name of the party Nature of transactions 2022 2021
(Rupees in thousand)

Holding Company

Treet Corporation Limited Sale of corrugated boxes  48,950  31,644 
Rental charged by the 
parent company

 4,582  22,586 

Finance cost charged by 
the parent company

 73,630  433,289 

Expenses born by the 
parent company

 472,192  292,384 

Funds paid to the parent 
company - net of receipts

 932,110  151,037 

Purchase of goods from 
the parent company

 17  -   

Conversion of parent 
company’s borrowings 
into Modaraba certificate 
capital

 -    5,044,000 

Issuance of modraba 
certificate capital 

 1,835,903  -   

Modaraba Management 
Company

Treet Holdings Limited Purchase of goods  -    248 
Finance cost charged by 
Treet Holding Limited

 3,736  668 

Funds received from the 
modarba management 
company - net of pay-
ments

 33,000  -   

Expenses born by the 
management company

 209  -   

Associated undertakings

Packages Limited Purchase of goods  30,969  11,432 
IGI General Insurance 
Limited

Services received  28,750  136,868 
Claims received against 
insurance

 6,000  -   

IGI Life Insurance Limited Services received  5,199  -   
Treet HR Management 
(Private) Limited

Services received  11,550  12,425 

Liaquat National Hospital Services received  479  -   

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022
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Name of the party Nature of transactions 2022 2021
(Rupees in thousand)

Elite Brands Limited Sale of goods  -    61,064 
Purchase of goods  -    1,056 

Loads Limited Sale of batteries  213  205 
Multiple AutoParts Indus-
tries (Pvt) Limited

Sale of batteries  5  12 

Specialized AutoParts 
Industries (Pvt) Limited

Sale of batteries 102  68 

Renacon Pharma Limited Purchase of goods  28  84 
Sale of corrugated boxes  30,127  20,329 
Sale of batteries  -    141 
Rental charged  281  -   
Expenses paid on behalf of 
associate

 579  -   

Sale of corrugated boxes
36.1 All the transactions with the related parties are executed in the normal course of business on the basis of 

mutually agreed terms and conditions.

36.2 All the executives, officers and other employees of the Modaraba have been outsourced from its related 
party namely Treet HR Management (Private) Limited.

36.3 One of the directors is working as CEO of the Modaraba Management Company. No remuneration has been 
paid to CEO or any director of the Modaraba. No fees for attending the meeting has been paid to directors 
during the year (2021: Rs. Nil).

2022 2021
 (Rupees in thousand) 

36.4 Remuneration of Executives

The aggregated amounts charged in these financial statements for the 
remuneration, including all benefits, to the Executives of the Modaraba 
were as follows:

Managerial remuneration  65,076  55,826 
Bonus  1,376  -   
Medical allowance  6,508  5,583 
House rent allowance  18,171  15,891 
Utilities allowance  4,038  3,531 
Other perquisites  31,806  9,041 
Employees' funds
-Provident fund  3,648  3,207 
-Service fund  3,648  3,207 

 7,296  6,414 
 134,271  96,286 

Number of executives  15  18 
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Annual rated capacity
Note UOM 2022 2021

37 PLANT CAPACITY AND PRODUCTION

Corrugated boxes Metric Tons  30,000  30,000 
Soaps Metric Tons  5,000  5,000 
Batteries Numbers  1,200,000  1,200,000 

Annual production
2022 2021

Corrugated boxes and sheets Metric Tons  23,578  20,513 
Soaps 37.1 Metric Tons  -    2,780 
Batteries Numbers  672,711  575,009 

The reason for shortfall in actual production when compared with installed capacity is primarily on account of 
demand and supply in the market conditions and the product mix.

37.1 Soap actual production is disclosed as NIL in current year as the production has been shifted to toll manufactur-
ing with effect from 1 July 2021.

38 ENTITY-WISE INFORMATION AND DISCLOSURE

These financial statements have been prepared on the basis of three reportable segments namely; corrugation 
boxes, soap and battery project.

38.1 Information about products

Sale of corrugation boxes and battery segments represent 30.04% (2021: 29.54%) and 63.58% (2021: 58.44%) 
respectively of the total revenue of the Modaraba.

38.2 Information about geographical areas

100% (2021: 99.68%) of the sales of Modaraba relate to customers in Pakistan.

0% (2021: 0.32%) of the sales of Modaraba relate to customers outside Pakistan of which 100% of the sales 
made to Afghanistan.

All non-current assets of the Modaraba as at June 30, 2022 and 2021 are also located in Pakistan.

38.3 Information about customers

There is no single customer to whom the Modaraba had made sales more than 10% of the total revenue of 
each segment.

36.5 In addition to the above, the Company maintained vehicles are provided to the executives of the Modaraba 
for official purposes only by the ultimate parent company of the Modaraba as per the employment rules 
and policies.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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39 NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES

The total and average number of employees during the year as at 30 June 2022 and 2021 respectively are as 
follows:

2022 2021
Number

Total number of employees at the year end 441 437
Average number of employees during the year  434 429

All the executives, officers and other employees of the company have been arranged through outsourcing from 
its related party namely "Treet HR Management (Private) Limited". The Modaraba has been making payments/ 
contributions of its outsourced employees on account of retirement benefits, which have been mainatained by the 
ultimate parent company "Treet Corporation Limited". Accordingly, the related disclosures regarding employees 
banafits have been disclosed in the financial statements of the ultimate parent company.

40 EVENTS AFTER THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION DATE

First Treet Manufacturing Modaraba, is in the process of demerging its battery segment and its subsequent 
transfer to Treet Battery Limited. However, this demerger and transfer is subject to the applicable statutory and 
regulatory approvals. Petition has been filed in The Honorable Lahore High Court to sanction arrangement under 
the provisions of Companies Act, 2017 and the next hearing is fixed on 12 September 2022. The financial impact of 
such scheme cannot be reliably estimated at this stage.  

41 DATE OF AUTHORIZATION FOR ISSUE

These financial statements were authorized for issue on 27th September 2022 by the Board of Directors of Treet 
Holdings Limited, the Modaraba Management Company.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022

Syed Shahid Ali
Chief Executive Officer

Imran Azim
Director

Syed Sheharyar Ali
Director

LAHORE
27th September 2022

Mohtashim Aftab
Group Chief Financial Officer
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Shareholdings
2.2 No. of Shareholders From To Total Shares Held

 60  1  100  770 
 46  101  500  22,730 
 26  501  1,000  24,826 
 69  1,001  5,000  204,855 
 24  5,001  10,000  206,100 
 14  10,001  15,000  184,504 

 8  15,001  20,000  148,500 
 10  20,001  25,000  229,947 

 3  25,001  30,000  86,000 
 3  30,001  35,000  103,000 
 2  35,001  40,000  74,500 
 3  45,001  50,000  147,000 
 3  50,001  55,000  160,500 
 1  55,001  60,000  60,000 
 1  65,001  70,000  67,500 
 3  95,001  100,000  300,000 
 1  110,001  115,000  114,500 
 1  125,001  130,000  129,000 
 1  145,001  150,000  150,000 
 1  160,001  165,000  164,000 
 1  170,001  175,000  170,500 
 1  195,001  200,000  200,000 
 1  210,001  215,000  215,000 
 1  295,001  300,000  300,000 
 1  305,001  310,000  308,500 
 1  405,001  410,000  410,000 
 1  425,001  430,000  426,000 
 1  495,001  500,000  499,000 
 1  750,001  755,000  753,000 
 1  880,001  885,000  881,500 
 1  19,590,001  19,595,000  19,590,562 
 1  857,255,001  857,260,000  857,257,993 

 292  883,590,287 

THE COMPANIES ACT, 2017
(Section 227(2)(f))						   
PATTERN OF SHAREHOLDING	

1.1 Name of the Company  FIRST TREET MANUFACTURING MODARABA
2.1. Pattern of holding of the shares held by the shareholders as at  30-06-2022

FORM 34
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2.3 Categories of Shareholders Shares Held Percentage

2.3.1  Directors, Chief Executive Officer,
         and their spouse and minor children
Syed Sheharyar Ali 21,447 0.0024%

21,447 0.0024%
2.3.2   Associated Companies,
Treet Corporation Limited (CDC) 858,010,993 97.1051%
Treet Holdings Limited (CDC) 19,590,562 2.2175%

877,601,555 99.3226%

2.3.3  NIT and ICP 0 0.0000%

2.3.4  Banks Development 0 0.0000%
           Financial Institutions, Non
           Banking Financial Institutions.

2.3.5  Insurance Companies 0 0.0000%

2.3.6  Modarabas and Mutual 500 0.0001%
           Funds

2.3.7   Shareholders holding 10% or more
Treet Corporation Limited 858,010,993 97.1051%

858,010,993 97.1051%

2.3.8  General Public 5,315,285 0.6016%
0 0.0000%

2.3.9 Others (to be specified)
1- Joint Stock Companies 651,500 0.0737%

THE COMPANIES ACT, 2017
(Section 227(2)(f))						   
PATTERN OF SHAREHOLDING	
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Sr. No. Name Shares Held Percentage

Associated Companies, Undertakings and Related Parties (Name Wise Detail):
1 TREET CORPORATION LIMITED (CDC)  858,010,993 97.1051
2 TREET HOLDINGS LIMITED (CDC)  19,590,562 2.2172

Mutual Funds (Name Wise Detail) - -

Directors and their Spouse and Minor Children (Name Wise Detail):  
1 SYED SHAHID ALI  -    -   
2 SYED SHEHARYAR ALI (CDC)  21,447 0.0024
3 MR. MUHAMMAD SHAFIQUE ANJUM  -   0.0000
4 MR. IMRAN AZIM  -   0.0000
5 DR. SALMAN FARIDI  -   0.0000
6 MS. SIDRA FATIMA SHEIKH  -   0.0000
7 MR. MUNIR K. BANA  -   0.0000

Executives: - -

Public Sector Companies & Corporations: - -

Banks, Development Finance Institutions, Non Banking Finance  500  -   

Companies, Insurance Companies, Takaful, Modarabas and Pension Funds:

Shareholders holding five percent or more voting interest in the listed company (Name Wise Detail)

S. No. Name Holding Percentage
1 TREET CORPORATION LIMITED (CDC)  858,010,993 97.1051

All trades in the shares of the listed company, carried out by its Directors, Executives and their spouses and minor 
children shall also be disclosed:

S.No NAME                                                                                              SALE PURCHASE
NIL

Categories of Shareholding required under Code of Corporate Governance (CCG)
As on June 30, 2022
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Key Operating and Financial Results

 
Rs.(000) 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

Sales  7,678,361  6,094,863  4,477,787  4,653,603  2,713,128  2,621,735  2,663,830 
Gross Profit  284,719 -90,144 -772,495 -955,231  49,409  348,867  366,140 
Profit before Taxation -518,809 -535,738 -2,983,616 -2,391,792 -357,120  204,577  244,358 
Profit after Taxation -541,738 -617,470 -2,984,794 -2,391,792 -357,120  204,577  244,358 
Certificateholders' Equity  4,371,661  4,913,400 -2,366,788  618,006  4,068,591  4,542,753  4,460,817 
Fixed Assets - Net  8,393,918  8,600,603  7,057,967  7,258,050  8,480,844  6,871,790  3,780,937 
Total Assets  11,579,148  11,999,821  10,191,016  11,750,858  12,219,365  8,867,304  5,191,000 
Total Liabilities  7,207,487  7,086,421  12,557,804  11,132,852  8,150,774  4,324,551  730,183 
Current Assets  3,126,218  3,291,655  3,011,539  4,481,876  3,723,048  1,971,272  1,382,380 
Current Liabilities  6,874,178  6,660,017  12,494,021  11,123,580  8,150,774  4,268,125  617,334 
Dividend Declared 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 5.98% 6.27%
Certificates Outstanding  883,590,287  699,999,994  195,599,994  195,599,994  195,599,994  195,599,994  195,599,994 

Important Ratios
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

Profitability
Gross Profit / Loss 3.71% -1.48% -17.25% -20.53% 1.82% 13.31% 13.74%
Profit / Loss before Tax -6.76% -8.79% -66.63% -51.40% -13.16% 7.80% 9.17%
Profit / Loss after Tax -7.06% -10.13% -66.66% -51.40% -13.16% 7.80% 9.17%

Return to Equity
Return on Equity before Tax -11.87% -10.90% 126.06% -387.02% -8.78% 4.50% 5.48%
Return on Equity after Tax -12.39% -12.57% 126.11% -387.02% -8.78% 4.50% 5.48%
Earning /  (Loss) per Certificate -0.63 -2.42 -15.26 -12.23 -1.83 1.05 1.25

Liquidity/ Leverage
Current Ratio  0.45  0.49  0.24  0.40  0.46  0.46  2.24 
Break-up Value per Certificate  4.95  7.02 -12.10  3.16  20.80  23.22  22.81 
Total Liabilities to  Equity  1.65  1.44 -5.31  18.01  2.00  0.95  0.16 

% Change 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

Sales 25.98% 36.11% -3.78% 71.52% 3.49% -1.58% 0.54%
Gross Profit /  Lass -415.85% -88.33% -19.13% -2033.31% -85.84% -4.72% 23.93%
Profit / Loss before Taxation -3.16% -82.04% 24.74% 569.74% -274.57% -16.28% 79.25%
Profit / Loss after Taxation -12.26% -79.31% 24.79% 569.74% -274.57% -16.28% 79.25%
Certificateholder's Equity + Revaluation
Surplus -11.03% -307.60% -482.97% -84.81% -10.44% 1.84% 163.57%
Fixed Assets - Net -2.40% 21.86% -2.76% -14.42% 23.42% 81.75% 468.46%
Total Assets -3.51% 17.75% -13.27% -3.83% 37.80% 70.82% 152.88%
Total Liabilities 1.71% -43.57% 12.80% 36.59% 88.48% 492.26% 102.64%
Current Assets -5.03% 9.30% -32.81% 20.38% 88.87% 42.60% 1.83%
Current Liabilities 3.22% -46.69% 12.32% 36.47% 90.97% 591.38% 222.80%
Dividend. - - - - -100.00% -4.63% 1.13%
Certificates Outstanding 26.23% 257.87% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 50.00%
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Notice of 16th Annual Review Meeting

Notice is hereby given that 16th Annual Review Meeting of Certificate Holders of First Treet Manufacturing 
Modaraba will be held on Thursday, October 27, 2022 at 10:30 A.M at Ali Auditorium, Ferozepur Road Shahrah-
e-Roomi, Lahore to transact the following business:  

ORDINARY BUSINESS:
1.	 To confirm the Minutes of last Annual Review Meeting held on November 23, 2021.
2.	 To receive, consider and adopt the Annual Audited Accounts of the Modaraba for the Year Ended June 30, 

2022, together with the Directors’ and Auditors’ Reports thereon.
3.	 To appoint External Auditors of the Modaraba for the year ending June 30, 2023 and to fix their remuneration. 

M/S Rehman Sarfaraz Rahim Iqbal Rafiq & Co, Chartered Accountant have offered themselves for re-
appointment.

The Certificate Transfer Books will remain closed from October 20, 2022 to October 27, 2022 (both days inclusive) 
for the purpose of determination of names of the certificate holders for attendance of Annual Review Meeting.

									         By order of the Board
					   

									                (Zunaira Dar)
									         Company Secretary

LAHORE:
October 05, 2022

Notes:

1. In case of individuals, the account holder and/or person whose securities are in CDC sub account or 
investor account shall show their identity by showing original computerized national identity card (CNIC) 
or original passport at the time of attending the meeting, CDC sub account holders/investor account 
holders are also requested to bring their account numbers maintained with CDC.

2. IIn case of corporate entity, board of director’s resolution/power of attorney with specimen signatures 
of the nominee shall be produced (unless it has been provided earlier) at the time of meeting.

3. Pursuant to the requirement of Section 242 of the Companies Act, 2022, Certificate Holders are 
Mandatory required to provide their bank account detail to receive their cash dividend directly in to their 
Bank Accounts instead of receiving it through dividend warrants. In this regards and in pursuance of 
the Directives of the SECP vide Circular No. 18, of 2022 dated August 01, 2022, Certificate Holders are 
requested to submit their written request (if not already provided) to the Modaraba’s Registrar, giving 
particulars of their Bank Account Detail. In the absence of a member’s valid Bank Account detail by 
October 31, 2022, the Modaraba will be constrained to withhold dispatch of dividend warrants to such 
members.
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4. The Financial Statements of the Modaraba for the year ended June 30, 2022 along with 
reports have been placed on the website of the Company: https://www.ftmm.com.pk

Annual Report 2022 and Notice of Annual Review Meeting (ARM) are being circulated 
electronically via email to all those shareholders whose email addresses are available 
with the CDC or the Share Registrar of the Modaraba.

Members who desire to receive annual financial statements and notice of the Modaraba  
through email in future (instead of receiving through CD/DVD) are requested to register 
their email address with CDC. Members holding physical shares shall provide their 
email to the Share Registrar of the Modaraba.

5. Under the provisions of Section 242 of the Companies Act, 2017, it is mandatory for a 
listed Company to pay cash dividend to its certificate holders only through electronic 
mode directly into bank account designated by the entitled shareholders.

In case shares are held in CDC then Electronic Credit Mandate Form must be submitted 
directly to certificate holder’s broker/participant/CDC account services. No further 
action is required if IBAN has already been incorporated/updated in the CDC account 
or physical folio of the certificate holder.

Certificate holders who by any reason, could not claim their dividend are advised to 
contact our Share Registrar to Collect/ enquire about their unclaimed dividends, if any. 
Please note any dividend unclaimed for more than three years may be deposited with 
the Federal Government under Section 244(2), of the Companies Act, 2017.

6. As per Section 72(2) of the Companies Act, 2017, every existing company shall be 
required to replace its physical shares with book-entry form in a manner as may be 
specified and from the date notified by SECP, within a period not exceeding four (4) 
years from the commencement of the Act, i.e., May 30, 2017. Those Shareholders 
having physical shareholding are encouraged to open a CDC Sub - Account with any 
Broker or Investor Account directly with CDC to place their physical shares into scrip 
less form. This will facilitate them in many ways, including safe custody and sale of 
shares, any time they want, as the trading of physical shares is not permitted as per 
existing regulations of the Pakistan Stock Exchange Limited.

Notice of 16th Annual Review Meeting



Form of Proxy

I/We, _____________________ of __________________ being a member of First Treet 
Manufacturing Modaraba, holder of ________ certificates as per Register Folio No. ____________

For beneficial owners as per CDC List

           CDC Participant I.D No. ---------------                          Sub Account No. ---------------------

          CNIC No

          Passport No. ------------------------------

Hereby Appoint Mr. /Mrs. /Miss _______________________ of ___________________ person or failing him / 
her Miss / Mrs / Mr. _________________________ of _____________________ another person on my / our 
proxy to attend and vote for me / us and my / our behalf at Annual Review Meeting of the Modaraba to be held 
on Thursday, October 27th 2022 at 10:30AM and at every adjournment thereof, if any

Please affix Rupees 

Five Revenue Stamp

(Signature should agree with specimen
           Signature registered with the Modaraba)

Signed this ____ day of October 2022 Signature of Shareholder _________________

Signature of Proxy ______________________

1. WITNESS
          Signature: _________________________

            Name: ____________________________

          Address: ___________________________
          __________________________________

CNIC #

2. WITNESS
          Signature: _________________________

            Name: ____________________________

          Address: ___________________________
          __________________________________

CNIC#

1. This Proxy Form. Duly completed and signed, must be received at above mentioned address the Registered Office of the 
Modaraba, not less than 48 hours before the time of holding the meeting.

2. If a member appoints more than one proxy and more than one instruments of proxy are deposited by a member with the 
Modaraba, all such instruments of proxy shall be rendered invalid.

3. For CDC Account Holders / Corporate Entities In addition to the above the following requirements have to be met;

i. Attested copies of CNIC or the Passport of the beneficial owners and the proxy shall be provided with the proxy forms.
ii. The proxy shall produce his original CNIC or original Passport at the time of the meeting.
iii. In case of a corporate entity, the Board of Directors resolution/power of attorney with specimen signature shall be 

submitted (unless it has been provided earlier) along with proxy form to the Modaraba.
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Form of Proxy

I/We, _____________________ of __________________ being a member of First Treet 
Manufacturing Modaraba, holder of ________ certificates as per Register Folio No. ____________

For beneficial owners as per CDC List

           CDC Participant I.D No. ---------------                          Sub Account No. ---------------------

          CNIC No

          Passport No. ------------------------------

Hereby Appoint Mr. /Mrs. /Miss _______________________ of ___________________ person or failing him / 
her Miss / Mrs / Mr. _________________________ of _____________________ another person on my / our 
proxy to attend and vote for me / us and my / our behalf at Annual Review Meeting of the Modaraba to be held 
on Thursday, October 27th 2022 at 10:30AM and at every adjournment thereof, if any

Please affix Rupees 

Five Revenue Stamp

(Signature should agree with specimen
           Signature registered with the Modaraba)

Signed this ____ day of October 2022 Signature of Shareholder _________________

Signature of Proxy ______________________

1. WITNESS
          Signature: _________________________

            Name: ____________________________

          Address: ___________________________
          __________________________________

CNIC #

2. WITNESS
          Signature: _________________________

            Name: ____________________________

          Address: ___________________________
          __________________________________

CNIC#

1. This Proxy Form. Duly completed and signed, must be received at above mentioned address the Registered Office of the 
Modaraba, not less than 48 hours before the time of holding the meeting.

2. If a member appoints more than one proxy and more than one instruments of proxy are deposited by a member with the 
Modaraba, all such instruments of proxy shall be rendered invalid.

3. For CDC Account Holders / Corporate Entities In addition to the above the following requirements have to be met;

i. Attested copies of CNIC or the Passport of the beneficial owners and the proxy shall be provided with the proxy forms.
ii. The proxy shall produce his original CNIC or original Passport at the time of the meeting.
iii. In case of a corporate entity, the Board of Directors resolution/power of attorney with specimen signature shall be 

submitted (unless it has been provided earlier) along with proxy form to the Modaraba.
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